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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG 
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to 
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. 
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and 
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. 

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a 
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities 
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents 
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of 
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited 
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance 
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the ”GEM Listing Rules”) 
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable 
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is 
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no any other 
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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RESULTS
A summary of the consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the five 
accounting years ended 31 December 2017 prepared under the International Financial Reporting Standards is as 
follows:

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 2,397,084 2,772,369 3,186,352 3,069,499 2,683,423
      

Profit before income tax 59,602 67,703 71,785 78,571 69,180
Income tax expense 15,651 (10,067) (12,306) (16,295) (13,096)
      

Profit for the year 43,951 57,636 59,479 62,276 56,084
      

Profit attributable to
Non-controlling interests 21,219 14,253 5,795 11,062 9,081
Owners of the Company 22,732 43,383 53,684 51,214 47,003
Basic earnings per share (RMB) 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.14 0.13
      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
A summary of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2017 prepared 
under the International Financial Reporting Standards is as follows:

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 592,892 618,136 631,791 636,012 659,808
Current assets 2,040,152 1,902,111 1,947,570 1,815,364 1,543,395
      

Total assets 2,633,044 2,520,247 2,579,361 2,451,376 2,203,203
      

Non-current liabilities 57,867 62,762 6,243 6,597 6,951
Current liabilities 1,620,717 1,523,960 1,681,942 1,564,814 1,353,572
Non-controlling interests 103,280 94,493 84,857 88,061 87,818
      

Liabilities and non-controlling 
interests 1,781,864 1,681,215 1,773,042 1,659,472 1,448,341

      

Total equity 954,460 933,525 891,176 879,965 842,680
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On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the audited consolidated financial results of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 to all shareholders

RESULTS OF THE YEAR
For the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year”), turnover of the Group amounted to approximately 
RMB2,397,084,000 (2016: RMB2,772,369,000), representing a decrease of approximately 14% as compared 
with the corresponding period of last year. Profit attributable to the shareholders was approximately 
RMB22,732,000 (2016: RMB43,383,000) and the earnings per share was approximately RMB0.06 (2016: 
RMB0.12).

As at 31 December 2017, the total assets and current assets of the Group were approximately RMB2,633,044,000 
(2016: RMB2,520,247,000) and approximately RMB2,040,152,000 (2016: RMB1,902,111,000), respectively, 
representing increases of RMB112,797,000 and RMB138,041,000 as compared with 31 December 2016, 
respectively. Our net assets attributable to the parent company and net assets per share at the end of the year 
were approximately RMB851,180,000 (2016: RMB839,032,000) and approximately RMB2.40 (2016: RMB2.37), 
respectively, both representing an increase of 1% as compared with 31 December 2016.
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REVIEW FOR THE YEAR
In 2017, the global economy experienced a moderate recovery, while the international environment remained 
complicated and ever-changing. The trend of protectionism and deglobalization continued to present a threat 
to the global economic growth, with uncertainties in the prospect of economic growth. The Chinese economy 
remained under the “new normal” pattern, where the economic growth shifted from investment and export-
driven model to domestic consumption-oriented model, and the domestic economy was still going through a 
crucial period for structural adjustment, thus the foundation for development was not yet solid. New progress 
was achieved in the supply-side structural reform, and efforts have been stepped up to push forward the 
implementation of de-capacity, deleverage and cost reduction measures. The deleverage policy in the financial 
sector gradually took effect, which caused certain impact on the financing channels and funding costs of the 
enterprises. The government continued to enhance supervision over environment and fire-control measures, 
and placed greater emphasis on environmental protection and public security, leading to more stringent 
requirements on companies’ operation. With the further implementation of regulation measures on overloading 
transportation by the PRC government, the logistics transportation industry is undergoing profound changes, 
causing significant impact on certain areas such as transportation resources, transportation costs and means of 
transportation. The logistics industry is still in the process of adjustments in the midst of explorations.

Under the general work guideline of “advancing forward through development and innovation” and the work 
strategy of “enhancing business presence, deepening joint-venture cooperation, promoting capital operation 
and accelerating system construction” put forward by the Group at the beginning of the year, we strove to 
push ahead business development alongside with industry reform and promote stable development of the 
Group under an unfavorable macro-environment, delivering mixed performances across all business segments 
for the year, with slight decrease in the overall operating results as compared to the previous year.

Adjusting development strategy to align with industry development

With intense reform in the logistics industry, the Group proactively explored its business, carried out extensive 
cooperation with industry players, shared logistics resources, innovated business models, improved logistics 
efficiency and saved logistics costs, creating a win-win situation and laying a foundation for business adjustment 
and upgrade.

During the year, by further adjusting the development approach of its materials procurement business, and 
sticking to the principle of “Acting wisely by carefully weighing advantages and disadvantages”, the Group took 
proactive measures to mitigate business risks. The Group stepped up efforts to develop cold chain business, and 
further enhanced business collaboration among its subsidiaries. Furthermore, the Group actively pushed forward 
the transformation of logistics transportation in line with the strategic development trend of the country, and 
made great effort to develop sea-railway intermodal transportation business by leveraging on its resources and 
advantage in railway transportation, so as to extend its service coverage from ports to inner land, providing 
customers with one-stop and door-to-door sea-railway intermodal transportation logistics services, which have 
been recognised by the customers. As a future business development direction, efforts will be made to expand 
and optimize such logistics transportation mode.

Enhancing the construction of national automobile logistics network

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to push forward the establishment of a comprehensive 
vehicle transportation network combining the “sea, river, railway and road” transportation with Eastern China, 
Northern China and Southwestern China as the major hubs. The Group also continued to develop the river 
transportation business with its branch company in Changshu City as its base in Eastern China, a number 
of automobile brands shipment loading and unloading services were successively launched during the year, 
leading to rapid expansion of business scale. Our previous efforts to explore this business segment started to 
show positive effect. Through gradual optimization and improvement, business operation was improved to 
ensure loading and unloading efficiency, work safety and service quality, receiving strong recognition from the 
customers. During the year, the Group continued to promote the development of railway transportation of 
commercial vehicles to virtually cover all the major routes across the country, providing sea-railway intermodal 
transportation for exported commercial vehicles for the first time. As the development direction of logistics 
transportation transformation in China, the Group continued to push forward the development of the 
integrated intermodal transportation network combining the “sea, river, railway and road” transportation.
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Continuously improving internal management

To further strengthen communication with the Board and give full play to the respective specialized committees 
under the Board, the Group has newly established the Office of the Board, which is responsible for daily 
communication, liaison, notification and other affairs with the Board and the supervisory committee between 
sessions of the Board meeting and reports to the Board.

The Group stepped up efforts in talent cultivation to avail itself of outstanding talents. During the year, 
the Group made human resources adjustments to the senior management as well as the comprehensive 
management department and the risk management department and promoted outstanding employees, so as to 
offer them a platform to demonstrate their talents and support the future development of the Group.

In order to further regulate file management, the Group issued the “File Management System” and “File 
Management Rules” during the year, and completed the renovation of the file room and upgrading of file 
management software, so as to process and maintain files in accordance with the relevant requirements.

Under the leadership of the audit committee of the Board, the Group further enhanced its internal auditing 
function. The Group implemented more stringent requirements for compliance management, and led by the 
internal audit department to strengthen institutionalized construction of the management department of the 
group companies and the relevant subsidiaries. The Group also extended internal auditing to the relevant 
subsidiaries, and carried out economic accountability auditing on departing general manager of the relevant 
subsidiaries.

The Group continued to push forward the information system construction. The Group continued to establish 
the OA-based integrated application platform offering information on financial and business affairs, so as to 
enhance management synergies. Furthermore, the Group pushed forward the multi-application of OA system 
in its headquarters, wholly-owned subsidiaries, controlling subsidiaries and invested companies, and achieved 
real-time information transmission by connecting the enterprise Wechat account with the OA systems. With 
the successful implementation of file management information system, the Group has improved its file 
management. The Group actively explored the application of the new technology “Internet+”, providing new 
support for the development of the relevant business.

The Group continued to strengthen the long-term mechanism of safety management. By emphasizing 
employees to take responsibility and actual actions instead of empty talking at meetings, the Group strove to 
enhance production safety. Always taking employee safety as top priority and sticking to stringent regulations, 
the Group stepped up effort to promote production safety culture, optimize safety production process and 
define safety production discipline and requirements. During the year, the Group launched a series of activities 
under the theme of “production safety month”, including organizing training on fire control related knowledge, 
engaging experts to conduct safety inspections on its subsidiaries and holding emergency drills, so as to 
promote safety culture construction in all fronts. Efforts were made to implement safety management, with an 
aim to facilitate smooth production and operation.

The Group attached great importance to social responsibility. The Company put great emphasis on green 
operation and production safety, and focused on talent cultivation and participation in public welfare activities. 
We continued to promote improvement and optimization in our daily management and business activities, so 
as to reduce resources consumption and impact on the environment. During the year, in addition to ISO9000 
quality management system certification, the Group obtained ISO14001:2015 environment management system 
certification.
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PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK
In 2018, the global economy is expected to continue to recover, with a large number of instabilities and 
uncertainties. The policy adjustments implemented by major economies and the spillover effect therefrom will 
bring about uncertainties, coupled with rising protectionism and geo-political risks. The Chinese economy has 
entered into a crucial stage which is characterized with transformation of development mode, optimization of 
economic structure and shifting in growth drivers, with many challenges ahead. It is certain that the Chinese 
economy will continue to slow down in 2018. The government will deepen adjustments to national institutes, 
and continue to push ahead the supply-side structural reform, in an effort to promote the shift to high quality 
economic growth. The government will continue to enhance environment control. As the implementation of 
regulation measures on overloading transportation has entered into a new phase, the logistics industry will 
also face challenges such as economic downturn and rising costs and expenses. The Group will take proactive 
measures to deal with the adjustment changes made during the year and continue to adhere to the strategy 
of cooperation and innovation. Focusing on the general work guideline of “advancing forward through 
development and innovation”, the Group intends to take the following measures in the coming year:

The Group will continue to push ahead the development of integrated business combining the “sea, river, 
railway and road” transportation. In 2018, the logistics industry will continue to push forward reform. With the 
penetration of new measures for the new era and the implementation of industry reform, the Group will adhere 
to the development strategy of integrated logistics business, continue to adjust resources allocation, seek for 
new business partners and innovate business models. In light of the new characteristics and new trend of 
logistics development in China, the Group will push forward the establishment of an integrated transportation 
network combining the “sea, river, railway and road” transportation, and step up efforts to develop sea-railway 
intermodal transportation business, with an aim to build up the core competitiveness of the Group for business 
development in the new era.

The Group will continue to promote the development of two major industrial platforms, i.e. automobiles and 
cold chain food. The Group will continue to reinforce its automobile and cold chain (daily necessary food) 
segments, which represent the two major industry development platforms of the Company. Through resources 
consolidation and joint-venture cooperation, and focusing on these two business platforms, the Group will 
extend its business to the upstream and downstream segments of the supply chain and develop new business 
products, while consolidating its existing businesses at the same time. The Group will continue to improve the 
nationwide automobile logistics network and river-sea intermodal transportation system, and consolidate the 
integrated vehicle transportation network combining the “sea, river, railway and road” transportation with 
Eastern China, Northern China and Southwestern China as the major hubs. By expanding and leveraging on our 
existing advantages in technology, network and facilities, the Group will expand its services to cover the whole 
supply chain of automobile industry, and explore domestic and overseas customer resources beyond Japanese 
car brand. Through cooperation with outstanding enterprises in the industry, the Group will develop new 
business products by leveraging on the industry position and resources of Tedahang. Furthermore, the Group 
will introduce capital resources and business resources to change the situation of single variety of business, so 
as to promote the sustainable development of Tedahang.

In terms of materials procurement and logistics business, the Group will keep abreast with the policy movement 
and economy performance to adjust the development strategy of the materials procurement business. Adhering 
to the business development strategy of “tactic operation with flexible approaches”, the Group will adjust 
product categories of bulk commodity trade business, scale down the materials procurement business, mitigate 
business risks and step up efforts in innovation and development of the physical logistics business.

In terms of traditional logistics business, the Group will continue to push ahead the transformation and 
upgrading of the traditional business, introduce new business resources and projects through various means 
such as joint-venture cooperation and business innovation and further enrich the portfolio of logistics products.

Affected by fluctuations in exchange rate and increase in costs and expenses, the logistics and supply chain 
services for electronic components business witnessed decline in operating results for 2017. Looking forward, 
by keeping abreast with the development trend of the electronic product industry, the Group will promptly 
push ahead transformation of services and products, explore new customers, expand business areas, improve 
service quality and seize market development opportunities to promote stable development of its business.
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Efforts will be made to strengthen internal management of the Group. The Group will strengthen internal 
management, perfect its appraisal mechanism and further enhance system construction, so as to improve 
management level. The Group will also further improve internal auditing function by enhancing internal 
audit and carrying out internal auditing on the relevant subsidiaries, with an aim to set a solid management 
foundation. Furthermore, the Group will step up efforts to cultivate outstanding key junior staff and young 
cadres, build up talent reserve through training of existing staff and introduction of new talents, and establish 
talent management system of the Group, offering a platform for the staff to demonstrate their talents. The 
Group will further reinforce information security management, and improve the rules and regulations on 
information security management, with an aim to establish the network security management system. The 
Group will strive to establish an information system with vertical interchange and horizontal coordination within 
the Group by continuing to push ahead the construction of the business and OA integrated system, finished 
automobiles warehousing management information system, courtyard visualized management system, bonded 
warehouse yard and business management system as well as cold chain business system of Tedahang, so as to 
enhance the core competitiveness and support the development of the Group in the future.

In 2018, in line with the general trend of economic development and logistics transformation, and leveraging 
on the opportunities arising from policy adjustment, the Group will uphold the development philosophy of 
“advancing steadily” and adhere to the development strategy of integrated logistics business. The Group will 
remain cautious and focus on overcoming operational risks and alleviating staff pressure. Furthermore, the 
Group will continue to strengthen cooperation with third parties, innovate business models, adjust its business 
structure and take various measures to improve its profitability. Focusing on the logistics resources at the 
key hubs, the Group will continue to push ahead the establishment of national integrated logistics network, 
and create new core competitive strength, so as to lay a solid foundation for the sustainable development of 
business in the future. Despite of all the challenges ahead, the Company is still confident in its development in 
the future.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board to all our staff for their excellent 
performance and dedicated efforts.

Zhang Wang

Tianjin, the PRC, 20 March 2018
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
The principal businesses of the Group are logistics and supply chain services for finished automobiles and 
components, logistics and supply chain services for electronic components, materials procurement and related 
logistics services, cold chain logistics services and other services such as bonded warehouse, container yard, 
supervision, agency and transportation services. The major customers of the Group include: Tong Fang Global 
(Tianjin) Logistics Co., Ltd. (同方環球(天津)物流有限公司), Tangshan Donghua Steel Group Co., Ltd. (唐山東華鋼
鐵企業集團有限公司), Hebei Jizhong Tangneng Trade Co., Ltd. (河北冀中唐能貿易有限公司), Tianjin Tongguang 
Group Digital Communication Co., Ltd. (天津通廣集團數字通信有限公司 ), Guoben (Shanghai) Enterprise 
Development Company Limited (國本(上海)企業發展有限公司), etc.

During the Reporting Period, the overall operating results of the Group was affected due to the further 
implementation of industrial structural adjustment by the government, increased efforts in pushing forward the 
deleverage policy on the financial sector, tightening monetary and fiscal policies and the sharp fluctuations in 
the RMB exchange rate. Under the backdrop of industrial structural adjustment and de-capacity policy in China, 
the Group continued to adjust the business structure of bulk commodity procurement business and compressed 
the scale of the business, which resulted in decrease in the operating income and operating profits from the 
materials procurement and related logistics services business in the Reporting Period. The operating results of 
the bonded warehouse, transportation and supervision business decreased as compared with the corresponding 
period last year. The branch company in Changshu City continued to record losses in the Reporting Period with 
improvement in its performance as compared with the corresponding period last year. Affected by exchange 
rate fluctuations and increased operating costs and expenses, the operating results of Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics 
Co., Ltd. and Dalian Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. (both associated companies of the Group) declined, leading to 
a decrease in investment income. Due to the decrease in the amount of meat inspection, there was an increase 
in losses in the operating results of Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd as compared to last year, resulting 
in a decrease in the Company’s investment income as compared with the corresponding period last year.

While consolidating the traditional logistics service businesses, the Group has actively expanded new areas of 
the logistics businesses, made use of synergy of its internal resources and acquired quality infrastructure logistics 
resources to achieve steady but yet rapid growth.

Logistics and Supply Chain Services for Transportation of Finished Automobiles and 
Components

During the Reporting Period, the principal businesses income amounted to RMB997,918,000, representing an 
increase as compared to last year. The logistics services for the imported automobiles recorded a stable growth, 
driving substantial growth in the operating results of that segment, with a year-on-year increase of 78%.

Materials Procurement and Related Logistics Services

During the Reporting Period, the principal business income from the materials procurement and related logistics 
services amounted to RMB1,342,838,000, representing a decrease of RMB475,230,000 or 26% as compared 
with last year.
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Warehouse, Supervision, Agency and Other Incomes

During the Reporting Period, other services such as bonded warehouse, container yard, supervision, agency 
and transportation services recorded an operating income of RMB56,328,000, representing a decrease of 
RMB14,821,000 or 21% as compared with last year.

Logistics and Supply Chain Services for Electronic Components (Conducted Through 
Investments in Joint Ventures)

During the Reporting Period, the logistics and supply chain services for electronic components business of the 
Group’s associates maintained stable performance as compared with last year, and its operating income was 
basically the same with last year. However, affected by exchange rate fluctuations and increased expenses, 
Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. and Dalian Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. witnessed substantial decrease in 
profit. During the Reporting Period, their operating income amounted to RMB800,836,000, representing an 
increase of 1%, and the net profit amounted to RMB40,007,000, representing a decrease of 38%.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2017, turnover of the Group was RMB2,397 million, representing a decrease 
of RMB375 million or 14% as compared to RMB2,772 million last year. The decrease in turnover is mainly 
attributable to the decrease in materials procurement and related logistics services as compared to last year.

Cost of sales and gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the cost of sales of the Group was RMB2,292 million, representing a 
decrease of RMB391 million or 15% as compared to RMB2,683 million of the corresponding period of last year, 
which was broadly in line with the decrease of turnover for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, gross profit margin of the Group was 4.38%, 1.15 percentage points 
higher than last year.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB54,066,000 in 2017, representing a decrease of 
RMB4,470,000 or 7.6% as compared to RMB58,536,000 last year. The Group will continue to strengthen its 
control over part of its administrative expenses.

Finance costs

The Group’s f inance costs during 2017 amounted to RMB17,631,000, representing an increase of 
RMB7,204,000 or 69% as compared to RMB10,427,000 last year. The Group will continue to improve the 
efficiency of capital utilisation and strive for the most favorable conditions for bank credits, so as to reduce the 
overall finance costs.
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Taxation expenses

The taxation expenses of the Group for 2017 were RMB15,651,000, representing an increase of RMB5,584,000 
or 55% as compared to RMB10,067,000 last year. The increase in taxation expenses was mainly attributable to 
the substantial increase in the income tax expenses of Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the 
Group) as compared to last year.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The share of results of joint ventures and associates of the Group for 2017 was RMB17,934,000, representing 
a decrease of RMB13,855,000 or 44% as compared to RMB31,789,000 last year, which was mainly due to 
the substantial decrease in the operating results of Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. and Dalian Alps Teda 
Logistics Co., Ltd. (both of which are associated companies of the Group) as compared to last year.

Profit for the year and earnings attributable to the equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2017, total profits for the period amounted to RMB43,951,000, representing 
a decrease of RMB13,685,000 or 24% as compared to last year. Earnings attributable to the equity holders of 
the Company were RMB22,732,000, decreased by RMB20,651,000 or 48% as compared to RMB43,383,000 
of last year. The decrease in earnings attributable to the equity holders of the Company was mainly due to the 
decrease in the operating results of the materials procurement and related logistics services of the Company as 
compared to the corresponding period of last year and the decrease in investment income, coupled with the 
increase in finance cost of RMB7,204,000 or 69% as compared to last year.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 
(corresponding period of 2016: RMB0.03).

Liquidity and financial resources

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group maintained a sound financial position. As at 31 December 
2017, the cash and bank balances of the Group were RMB552,990,000 (31 December 2016: RMB327,598,000). 
As at 31 December 2017, the total assets of the Group were RMB2,633,044,000 (31 December 2016: 
RMB2,520,247,000). Capital was sourced from current liabilities of RMB1,620,717,000 (31 December 
2016: RMB1,523,960,000), non-current liabilities of RMB57,867,000 (31 December 2016: RMB62,762,000), 
shareholder’s equity attributable to the shareholders of the Group of RMB851,180,000 (31 December 2016: 
RMB839,032,000) and minority interests of RMB103,280,000 (31 December 2016: RMB94,493,000).

Capital structure

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no change in the capital structure of the Group. The share 
capital of the Company comprised only ordinary shares.

Loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of bank loans of the Group was RMB319,995,000 (31 December 2016: 
RMB193,834,000).

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2017, the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the Group was 64% (31 December 2016: 
63%). The gearing ratio (ratio of loans (including borrowings and obligations under finance leases) to total 
equity) of the Group was 44% (31 December 2016: 30%).
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Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2017, the charge on assets of the Group was as follows:

On 8 November 2016, Bonded Warehouse, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a financial 
lease agreement with Huayun Finance Leasing Company Limited* (華運金融租賃股份有限公司) (“Huayun 
Leasing”) at the consideration of RMB91,000,000, and entered into a mortgage in favour of Huayun Leasing 
to guarantee the principal payment under the finance lease agreement. The mortgaged assets are certain 
properties and facilities of Bonded Warehouse with a net value of approximately RMB109,436,000.

On 11 May 2017, Bonded Warehouse, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, further entered into a financial 
lease agreement with Tianyin Finance Leasing Company Limited* (天銀金融租賃有限公司) (“Tianyin Leasing”) 
at the consideration of RMB55,000,000, and entered into a mortgage in favour of Tianyin Leasing to guarantee 
the principal payment under the finance lease agreement. The mortgaged assets are yards and facilities of 
Bonded Warehouse with a net value of approximately RMB55,469,000.

Exchange loss or gain

All operating revenues and expenses of the Group are denominated in Renminbi.

The Group has no significant investments outside Mainland China. The Group, however, may be exposed to 
certain extent of foreign currency exchange loss or gain mainly because the Group and its subsidiaries, Tianjin 
Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. and Tianjin TEDA International Freight Forwarding Co., Ltd., have transactions 
denominated in United States Dollar, Japanese Yen and Hong Kong Dollar. For the 12 months ended 31 
December 2017, the Group had an exchange loss of RMB103,000 after offsetting the exchange gains with 
exchange losses.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Operating lease commitments

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had the following operating lease commitments:

The Group as lessee

2017
The Group RMB’000

Within one year 3,547
In the second to fifth year 2,136
Over five years –
  

5,683
  

The Group as lessor

2017
The Group RMB’000

Within one year 10,281
In the second to fifth year 13,484
Over five years –
  

23,765
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL 
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
During the year, the Group had no significant investments and did not make future plans for material investments 
or capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES 
AND JOINT VENTURES
During the year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associates by the Group.

EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed 2,345 employees (31 December 2016: 2,329).

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Administration 335 304
Finance 62 69
Consulting Technology 12 13
Sale and Operation 1,936 1,943
   

Total 2,345 2,329
   

REMUNERATION POLICY
The remunerations of the employees of the Company shall be determined by reference to the market rate, and 
the performance, qualification and experience of the relevant employees. Also, a discretionary bonus based 
on individual performance during the year will be distributed as a reward for the contributions made by the 
employees to the Company. Other employee benefits include pension insurance, unemployment insurance, 
labour injury insurance, medical insurance, maternity insurance and housing fund.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company, having 
regard to the Group’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance and experience, to the 
Board for determination.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited (“Binhai Teda Logistics” or the “Company”, together 
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”), whose headquarter is located in Tianjin City, the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC” or “China”), is principally engaged in the provision of integrated logistics services and 
supply chain solutions in China. Binhai Teda Logistics is committed to developing into an “expert of integrated 
logistics services in China”. The Company strived to provide its customers with comprehensive logistics solution 
by integrating resources and developing innovative logistics products to create a brand-new “integrated logistics 
operation platform”.

This report is the second environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report of the Group. This report, 
which is prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities published by The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), gives a detailed description on how the Group 
promotes sustainable development of the society and maintains sustainability development of its business, 
thus creating long-term value for the customers, employees, business partners, shareholders, investors and 
the general public. Unless otherwise stated, this report discloses the measures and performance of the Group 
and all its subsidiaries and major joint ventures on sustainable development during the period from 1 January 
2017 to 31 December 2017 (the “Reporting Period”), including (i) Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. which is 
engaged in the logistics and supply chain services for electronic components; (ii) Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., 
Ltd. (“Fengtian Logistics”) and (iii) Tianjin Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics”), 
both engaged in logistics and supply chain services for finished automobiles and components business; (iv) 
TEDA General Bonded Warehouse Co., Ltd. which is engaged in bonded warehouse services; (v) Tedahang 
Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Tedahang”) which is engaged in cold chain logistics services business; (vi) the 
Company and He Guang Trade and Business Co., Ltd., both engaged in materials procurement and related 
logistics services business; and (vii) Tianjin Teda International Freight Forwarding Co., Ltd. which is engaged 
in other services such as container yard, supervision, agency and transportation services. The management of 
the Company has provided a confirmation to the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) on the 
effectiveness of the ESG risk management system and internal control systems. The Board confirms that it has 
reviewed and approved this report.

We attach great importance to the views of stakeholders. If you have any advice with regard to this report or 
the overall sustainable development of the Group, please contact us at investor@tbtl.cn.
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OUR CORPORATE CULTURE
Upholding the core value of “integrity, honor, responsibility, resources, efficiency, value, cooperation, innovation 
and ambition”, the Group places emphasis on talent cultivation, and requires its employees to possess good 
moral character, protect the environment and support public welfare activities.

CORPORATE CULTURE PRACTICE
The principle of “corporate integrity, leader ethics, career development and staff support” is the foundation 
of our corporate culture. Under this principle, the Group sticks to the basic requirement of “integrity”, abide 
by the laws and respect the rules. Acting as a role model, the management guide and practice our corporate 
culture through their own speech and behavior. We continue to optimize human resource system and establish 
an attractive promotion system, offering a platform for the outstanding cadres to demonstrate their talents. We 
provide a competitive remuneration package to provide living protection for our staff, and take into account 
the needs of general staff in adjusting such policy.

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate responsibility, attaches great importance to integrity and 
strives to win trust from the stakeholders. We believe that the economy, environment and social development 
are closely related, and sustainable development is not only vital to our business development and core 
operation requirement, but is also fundamental in many aspects, including our performance in environmental 
protection, contribution to the society as well as our relationship with the shareholders, employees, customers 
and suppliers. In order to achieve sustainable growth, we incorporate environmental, social and governance 
principles into our management and adopt the following four core principles as guideline for corporate social 
responsibility management strategy, in an effort to create long-term value and bring positive impact on the 
society and environment:

Sustainable business development Green operation

The Group provides comprehensive logistics service 
and supply chain solution for the customers by 
integrating resources and developing innovative 
logistics products, so as to satisfy customers’ needs 
and create an integrated logistics operation platform.

Environmental protection is an integral part of 
sustainable business development and corporate 
responsibility. We make great effort to optimize 
utilization of natural resources, and encourage our 
customers, business partners and communities to 
work together to protect the environment, with an 
aim to reducing negative impact on the environment.

People-oriented Care for the community

The Group is committed to providing a diverse 
and inclusive, harmonious, equal and fair working 
environment for its employees, and also attaches 
great importance to occupational safety, with aim to 
becoming an Employer of Choice in the industry.

T h e G r o u p p r o a c t i v e l y d e l i v e r s c a r e f o r t h e 
community and provide assistance to the groups 
in need, and also establishes close and long-term 
partnership with the communities where it operates, 
so as to promote strong synergetic effect.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
We understand that communication with stakeholders is a dynamic process, and the society’s expectation on 
corporate social responsibility is also increasing. As such, the Group makes great effort to establish a close 
and strong partnership with the major stakeholders. During the Reporting Period, we continued to treat those 
groups which are significantly influenced by, or have the ability to influence, the Group’s business as our major 
stakeholders, including customers, suppliers, employees, shareholders and investors, local governments and 
communities. With an aim to boosting the sustainable development of the Group, we help the stakeholders to 
understand our objectives and collect their feedbacks, which enable us to develop better strategies and ensure 
responsible business operation. By virtue of the active communication with stakeholders, through formal and 
informal channels and on a regular basis, in the course of our day-to-day operation, we are able to identify 
certain significant environmental, social and governance related issues which will be discussed in this report.

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT – OPERATION SAFETY
“Safety”, is the key for us to win over support from companies on the list of Fortune 500 and maintain long-
term cooperation relationship. As an expert of integrated logistics and supply chain solution, safety is the 
Group’s top priority. Despite our extensive business scope, we adhere to the principle of “Safety first” in every 
detailed aspect of our business operation.

Warehouse Safety

We strive to achieve the goal of zero fire accident. The Company, Fengtian 
Logistics and Tedahang have all obtained Class II certification of safety production 
standardization, and TEDA General Bonded Warehouse Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Yuan 
Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd. have also obtained Class III certification of safety 
standardization. Our general bonded warehouse abides by the requirements of 
the Regulations of the Customs of the PRC for the Administration of Bonded 
Warehouses and Cargoes Stored (《中華人民共和國海關對保稅倉庫及所存貨物管理
規定》) and the Operation Rules of the Customs of the PRC for the Administration 
of Bonded Warehouses and Cargoes Stored (《中華人民共和國海關對保稅倉庫

及所存貨物管理操作規程》), and is a Grade 2A enterprise that guarantees cargo storage administration and 
mortgage supervision.

Within the warehouse area, we have established a 24/7 security inspection system, our security guards patrol 
by strictly following the prescribed patrol routes and schedule, and we have installed video surveillance systems 
(CCTV) to ensure the security and safety of the warehouse area and the goods. We have carried out special 
inspections according to the seasonal characteristics. In light of the Company’s actual circumstances and 
climate characteristics, we have focused on inspections about heatstroke prevention, flood control, thundering 
protection, fireproof, freeze-proofing and other security issues. In order to ensure the quality of warehousing 
service, we have invested to carry out fundamental renovation of the warehouses, which included waterproof 
and sunproof enhancement for the roof to prevent rainfall and snow leakage or protect the goods from 
sunlight exposure. We also have continued to improve warehouse layout, and have installed operation flow 
boards for our staff’s easy information. Clean paths are kept at both ends of the goods racks to maintain 
smooth passage between the working area and the storage area, and efforts have been made to ensure safe 
use of working trolleys and improve operation efficiency with the implementation of relevant management 
regulations. We strive to enhance the safety awareness regarding the warehousing area and install relevant 
auxiliary labels such as no smoking sign, with an aim to preventing the occurrence of events.

In order to prevent goods from containing hazardous substances, at the time of storing the goods, we obtain 
written documents such as packing list and inspection report of the goods, and carry out unpacking inspection 
as much as possible. We will also investigate the basic information of the customers and verify customers’ 
business category.
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Cargo Tracking

By the use of the cargo tracking system, we are able to obtain instant information of 
cargo transport status (e.g. variety and quantity of goods, transit status, delivery time, 
place of departure and destination, owner of cargo, delivery vehicle and personnel 
etc.), with an aim to improve our logistics transportation services.

Regarding automobile warehousing, we track the logistics status of the finished 
automobiles and components by using the Global Positioning System (“GPS”), 
transportation monitoring and management system, port logistics information 
management system, commercial vehicle yard operation information management 
system, imported automobiles and components custom clearance software and 
vehicle-mounted automated real-time remote monitoring terminals and other 
monitoring systems.

Safe Railway Transportation

We abide by the laws and regulations on railway transportation such as 
the Railway Law of the People’s Republic of China (《中華人民共和國鐵路
法》), Regulation on Railway Freight Transportation (《鐵路貨物運輸管理規
則》), Agreement on International Railroad through Transport of Goods (《國
際鐵路貨物聯運協議》) and Convention Concerning International Carriage 
of Goods by Rail (《鐵路貨物運輸國際公約》). In terms of pre-loading 
checkup, we use video monitoring system to inspect the train’s roof, so as 
to ensure the safety of the train. We use electric chain block to effectively 
prevent accidents that are liable to occur due to manual operation of 
chain block, and also use screw-thread steel to prevent skidding of the 
vehicle during snowy days in winter.
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Case study – improvement of railway marshalling made by Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics

During the Reporting Period, in order to improve the efficiency of railway marshalling, Yuan Da Xian Dai 
Logistics applied an online enquiry system to conduct real-time tracking on all cargo in transit and reduced 
downtime of train carriages and rail lines through making unified arrangement. The number of unloading 
workers was adjusted to 10 workers for each train after the improvement. With a clearly-defined division of 
work, we were able to estimate accurately the time required for unloading in advance. Average frequency 
of operation per day was increased from 2 to 3, while the number of freight train carriages used for picking 
up and delivery of goods was also increased from 2 to 3. In addition, in contrast to only providing low-
frequency unloading services for large volume of cargo (at least 10 freight train carriages each time) in the 
past, we were able to provide high-frequency loading and unloading services for small volume of cargo 
(even one freight train carriage), to enhance customer satisfaction. As for unloading management, we have 
strengthened safety supervision and management by establishing a comprehensive assessment mechanism 
for loading and unloading operation, the unloading team must be notified of the operation one hour in 
advance and arrive on site before the train is ready for unloading, and road barriers must be placed on 
the unloading path and warning lights must be used for operation at night. With these efforts, the time 
required for unloading a whole train was reduced from approximately 6 hours to 4 hours. As for railway 
marshalling, the loading time was reduced from approximately 4 hours to less than 3 hours due to improved 
loading efficiency through coordination and clearly-defined division of work and responsibilities. Through 
coordination and communication between Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics and the railway stations, priority was 
given to the special-line freight trains of Yuan Da for loading and marshalling, which ensured the timely 
departure of its trains. Currently, the special-line freight trains of Yuan Da connected all major cities in the 
PRC, and the delivery time has been shortened by 2 to 3 days in average. In the past, a single rail line was 
only available for loading and unloading of general cargo, while now it is available for loading and unloading 
of special and general cargo at the same time; and the loading and unloading of commercial vehicles could 
be carried out on 2 rail lines concurrently as compared to only one rail line in the past, which increased our 
maximum handling efficiency from 580 vehicles/2 freight trains/72 hours to 720 vehicles/7 freight trains/36 
hours.
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Safe Road Transportation

The Group holds road transportation licenses and has implemented the 
relevant laws and regulations on land transportation. We check the water 
tanks, storage batteries, engine oil, fuel oil and tyres of the vehicles on 
a daily basis, carry out sanitary inspection on a weekly basis, and do 
unscheduled maintenance every month and regular maintenance every 
quarter, so as to ensure that all vehicles are absolutely safe. We observe and 
analyze the physical and psychological conditions of the drivers during the 
morning assemblies every day, and adjust work arrangement when necessary. 
In addition, we have also installed GPS systems on the vehicles, enabling us 
to locate the vehicles and goods in real time.

Emergency Contingency Plan

We have set up a 24-hour emergency hotline and published the Emergency 
Response Plan (《突發事件應急預案》) in accordance with the Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on Work Safety (《中華人民共和國安全生產法》), Fire Protection 
Law of the People’s Republic of China (《中華人民共和國消防法》), Emergency 
Response Law of the People’s Republic of China (《中華人民共和國突發事件應對
法》), Regulations on the Safety Administration of Hazardous Chemicals (《危險化
學品安全管理條例》), Law of the People´s Republic of China on Prevention and 
Control of Occupational Diseases (《中華人民共和國職業病防治法》) and Guidelines 
for Enterprises to Develop Emergency Response Plan for Workplace Accidents 
(《生產經營單位安全生產事故應急預案編製導則》), which clarifies the tasks and 
responsibilities of the emergency command organization and each functional 

department, enabling them to cohesively coordinate in all aspects and fulfill their respective functions in a bid 
to improve the efficiency of emergency rescue work, with an aim to systematically preventing the occurrence of 
accidents. Our onsite managing solutions for large-scale incidents cover a wide range of incidents and calamities 
including fire, explosion, traffic accident and earthquake.

Safety Training and Occupational Health Management

We have established the Safety Education and Training System (《安全教育培訓制
度》) and the Occupational Health Management System (《職業健康管理制度》) in 
accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and 
Control of Occupational Diseases (《中華人民共和國職業病防治法》) and other laws 
and regulations. We also have established a number of groups such as the Work 
Safety Management Committee, the Occupational Health Management Steering 
Group and the Safety Promotion Division, which are responsible for the prevention 
and control of occupational disease and attending to work-related health issues. 
Meanwhile, Tedahang has obtained the OHSAS 18001 occupational health and 
safety management system certification and the ISO9001:2008 quality management 
system certification, so as to ensure operation safety.
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We have established the 3-level education and skills training programs, which consist of education at the 
branch company, department and team or group levels. We require all staff to participate in the safety training, 
with at least 8 hours of training for each level. Details regarding these trainings are set out as follows:

Key topics of the education and training programs

Training and education programs  
  at the branch company level

1.	 Production safety rules and regulations and labor disciplines of 
the Company

2.	 Information on the standardized production safety system of the 
Company

3.	 Production safety situation of the Company and basic 
knowledge of production safety

4.	 The employees’ rights and obligations in respect of production 
safety

5.	 Case study of relevant incidents
6.	 Emergency rescue, emergency drills and precaution measures

Training and education programs  
  at the department level

1.	 Production characteristics, production procedures, working 
environment and risk factors of the department

2.	 Potential occupational hazards and casualty incidents
3.	 Safety responsibilities, operational skills and compulsory 

standards of the job
4.	 Rescue and first-aid skills, evacuation and on-site emergency 

treatment
5.	 Use and maintenance of safety equipment and personal 

protective equipment

Training and education programs  
  at the team or group level

1.	 Safety operation procedures for related job positions
2.	 Occupational safety and health matters relating to 

interconnection between different job positions

In order to effectively prevent workers from injuries such as sprains and strains or other incidents by carrying 
heavy goods, such work has basically been done by machinery instead of by manual operation, and some 
subsidiaries even provide body check for the employees once a year.

Protecting Customers’ Privacy

As an integrated logistics operation platform, the Group is also engaged in materials procurement, logistics 
services, international trade and other businesses. Through three major processes including materials 
procurement, material supervision as well as warehousing and transportation, our businesses cover the supply 
chain of the customers in all aspects, providing our customers with integrated logistics services such as logistics, 
product flow, capital flow, information flow, etc. While providing our customers with quality services, we keep 
confidential of customers and their properties’ information in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. 
All employees are required to sign the Employee Statement of Integrity (《員工誠信宣言》) and all information 
of customers are locked or encrypted to prevent leakage of such information by any unrelated personnel. 
Should any leakage of information is found to have been committed by anybody with hostile ulterior motives 
or have caused any serious consequence, it would be deemed as a behavior which have seriously violated the 
confidentiality rules, no matter whether the leaker has gained any actual personal benefits therefrom, and 
the employee concerned would be subject to severe punishments by the Group, including dismissal and legal 
actions. During the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any complaint on privacy infringement. In 
addition, our businesses do not involve in any advertising and labeling.
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GREEN OPERATION
The Group believes that the integration of logistics services and environmental protection is essential for 
the construction of ecological civilization. As a first rate logistics group, we believe, in the logistics services 
operation, it is of utmost importance to reduce both logistics transportation and impact on the environment. 
We try our best to deliver the same quantity of goods with minimum packaging materials, storage area, 
transportation means and the shortest distance, so as to reduce resource consumption and greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emission. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established the environment management system 
and developed the environment management manual in accordance with the GB/T24001-2016/ISO14001:2015 
standard and the requirements of relevant laws, regulations and other requirements and in light of the 
characteristics of services provided by the Company, organizational structure and the internal and external 
environment condition of the Company, with an aim to implementing the environment policy of “Compliance 
with laws and regulations, prevention of pollution, energy conservation and emission reduction and focus on 
performance”. Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd., Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Alps 
Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. have all obtained the ISO14001:2004 certification, while the Company also obtained 
the ISO14001:2015 certification during the Reporting Period, which demonstrate our commitment to fulfilling 
our environmental protection responsibilities.

Optimization of Transportation

We encouraged our customers to use railway instead of trucks for cargo transportation as railway has the 
least amount of carbon dioxide (CO2) emission with the least energy consumption among road, water and air 
transportations.

Air Emission and Greenhouse Gas Management 

The exhaust discharged by our business include warehousing exhaust (e.g. gases of volatile materials, dust) and 
vehicle exhaust. Our warehouses are equipped with exhaust units that are regularly checked and maintained 
to ensure their normal operation and satisfaction of environmental protection requirements. In terms of vehicle 
exhaust, we have set up a system to monitor the consumption and emission amount, and review the monitoring 
reports on a regular basis to come up with solutions for energy conservation and emission reduction. As to 
cargo transportation by trucks, we purchase standard diesel and gasoline for the fleet in accordance with the 
national policies for vehicle emission (China Standard IV), and carry out inspections every year to meet the 
national vehicle emission standard. In addition, we have also taken measures such as restriction of engine idling, 
improvement of loading efficiency and shortening of travel distance, striving to develop into an environmentally-
friendly logistics supplier.

Tedahang adopts liquid ammonia to realize refrigeration in the cold storage. We store the refrigerant properly 
in storage tanks, compressors, evaporative condensers and other refrigeration equipment, and purposely 
separate the refrigerating station from other zones, so as to reduce impact on the environment and human 
health.
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Sewage Management

We manage and control the discharge of sewage generated from operation, so as to ensure satisfaction of the 
requirements of the laws, regulations and local administration for environmental protection and alleviate or 
eliminate contamination of water environment. The sewage discharged by us primarily comes from domestic 
wastewater (including wastewater generated in cleaning and shower by employees, flushing water of toilets 
and wastewater from washing dishes), sewage generated in warehousing activities (including sewage from 
cleaning vehicles, equipment and containers), as well as rainfall. Rainfall pipeline is built and domestic garbage 
is not permitted to be stacked outdoors, so as to prevent rainwater from being polluted. Some subsidiaries have 
installed dedicated containers for collection of oily sewage, which is transferred for professional treatment.

Tedahang has constructed a dedicated liquid ammonia accident pool for ammonia in the cold storage as 
required by its business for storage of water that possibly contains ammonia in the pipes of the refrigerating 
station, thus avoiding leakage of liquid ammonia. Moreover, Tedahang engages a professional agency that 
is recognized by local environmental protection bureau to conduct sewage treatment regularly every year, 
mitigating the impact of sewage discharge on the environment.

Solid Waste Management

Aiming to achieve the goal of “100% appropriate treatment of solid wastes”, we enhance the environmental 
awareness of all employees and endeavor to reduce the output of waste, fully recycle the waste and treat the 
hazardous solid waste to become non-hazardous according to the laws and regulations. General solid waste is 
reused sufficiently as per its classification, while those non-recyclable wastes are forwarded to the solid waste 
treatment plant as required.

Noise Management

The noises generated by our business include machine running noise (e.g. compressors in the warehouse 
operating zone), vehicle transportation and loading/unloading noise (e.g. trucks, cranes and forklifts), as well as 
engineering construction noise, etc. We have designated noise control points to check the noise control results. 
Additionally, dedicated personnel are arranged to carry out daily inspection of running equipment for spotting 
irregularities and repairing them promptly, thus avoiding the generation of noises. When constructions (including 
repair and maintenance activities) are carried out inside the premises of the factory, we will supervise them 
accordingly so as to guarantee the noises in compliance with the requirements. We encourage drivers to use 
less of the vehicle horn while driving and require the operators of cranes and forklifts to load, unload and stack 
goods gently, in an effort to avoid noise production. We also invite the local environment monitoring institution 
to monitor the noise pollution annually according to the relevant national standards.

The refrigerating units generate enormous noises during operation and thus adversely affect the surrounding 
environment and employees. We have therefore mounted noise barriers and explosion-proof doors and 
windows between the refrigerating station and the control room in accordance with the Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Pollution from Environmental Noise (《中華人民共和國環境雜訊
污染防治法》) and other relevant national regulations, to reduce the impact of noises on the employees.

Green Office

We aim at comprehensively building a green office through active promotion of green concepts, advocacy of 
low-carbon, environmentally-friendly lifestyle, and green commuting and paperless office. Some subsidiaries 
have taken the following measures: establishing the “Energy Saving Award” to enhance the employees’ 
environmental protection awareness in water and electricity conservation, setting up the Check Sheet system 
to require the last employee who leaves the office to check if the lights and power are all off before leaving 
the office and sign on the Check Sheet, promoting the office automation system to realize paperless office 
and using paper of lower grams, requiring employees to print on both sides so as to significantly reduce paper 
consumption, replacing the existing faucets with sensor faucets progressively, employing the GSHP for air-
conditioning and recycling underground water, assigning employees to monitor the water use to avoid excessive 
use, inspecting water supply facilities carefully to prevent leakage and repairing them immediately in case of 
facility damage to reduce waste of water, adjusting water consumption according to seasonal change for the 
refrigerating facilities of the cold chain logistics service business owing to their heavy consumption of water, 
and changing the existing lights with sensor lights in some toilets and corridors.
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Case study – Tedahang has taken the following energy-saving measures during the Reporting Period:

•	 Requiring employees of all departments to turn off electricity facilities and fill in the check sheet before 
leaving the office, so as to reduce energy consumption and prevent safety hazards caused by electrical 
short circuit;

•	 As the refrigeration facilities contribute to most of the power consumption, the storage department has 
adjusted the operation time of such facilities, which significantly reduce power consumption;

•	 Tedahang gradually replaced the existing lights with light-emitting diode (LED) lights, so as to reduce 
power consumption.

Key environmental figures

Indicators Unit Total

Total GHG emission tCO2e 12,974.11
  Direct (Scope 1) tCO2e 5,758.81
  Indirect (Scope 2) tCO2e 7,215.30
Total GHG emission per sq.m. of gross floor area (GFA) 
  (Scope 1 and 2) KgCO2e/sq.m. 14.70

   

Air emission
  Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Ton 213.47
  Sulphur oxides (SOx) Ton 0.04
  Particulate Matter (PM) Ton 21.07

   

Total energy consumption kWh 28,854,440.48
  Electricity kWh 8,159,336.07
  Diesel kWh 19,932,032.62
  Unleaded petrol kWh 763,071.79
Total energy consumption per sq.m. of GFA kWh/sq.m. 32.70

   

Total water consumption m3 108,734.00
Total water consumption per sq.m. of GFA m3/sq.m. 0.12

   

Total hazardous wastes kg 1,530.00
Total hazardous wastes per sq.m. of GFA g/sq.m. 1.73

   

Total non-hazardous wastes Ton 1057.92
Total non-hazardous wastes per sq.m. of GFA kg/sq.m. 1.20
Wastes disposed to landfill
  General refuse Ton 657.12
  Paper Ton 215.19
Wastes collected for recycling
  General refuse Ton 148.25
  Paper Ton 31.86
  Plastics Ton 5.5

   

Total packaging materials used Ton 319.56
Total packaging materials used per sq.m. of GFA kg/sq.m. 0.36
Packaging materials used
  Wood Ton 305.04
  Plastics Ton 14.52
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 2,345

1

 employees, with male and female employees 
accounting for 75% and 25% respectively. The Group always treat employees as the most important asset, 
and continues to enhance human resource management, with an aim to become a good employer. We have 
developed the Guidance on Professional Conducts (《職業操守指引》) and prohibit employees from discriminating 
or insulting one another base on the clan, gender, religion, or physical disability, in an effort to create a 
working environment which advocates principles such as diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination.
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Integrity and Self-Discipline

“Integrity, honor and responsibility” constitutes our core value, laying a foundation for the sustainable 
development of the Group. We comply with ethical requirements as well as the laws and standards, where 
the basic elements of integrity, loyalty and fairness are deeply rooted in our corporate culture. To ensure our 
operation meets the requirements of the high standard corporate governance of the Group, we have established 
a series of internal systems and guidelines in line with the relevant laws and regulations including the Staff 
Manual (《員工手冊》) and the Guidance on Professional Ethics and Business Discipline (《職業道德暨商務紀律指
南》). Employees are required to sign the Employee Statement of Integrity (《員工誠信宣言》) which specifies our 
requirements regarding professional ethics for the employees, so as to avoid interest conflicts. We adopt a “zero 
tolerance” policy towards bribery, blackmail, fraud and money laundering, and any employee who involves in 
activities in violation of the code of ethics and professional conduct shall be subject to disciplinary punishment. 
During the Reporting Period, no incident of bribery, blackmail, fraud or money laundering in any form were 
reported.

1 Including all employees of the Group
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Talent Cultivation

Employee training and development serve as a foundation to the quality and sustainable development of the 
Group. The Group has developed the Talent Development Plan of Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics Group (《天
津濱海泰達物流集團人才發展工作規劃》), which outlined the future talent management plan, with a long-
term aim to “cultivating an internationalized professional talent team with optimized structure, outstanding 
competence and high efficiency”. We encourage our staff to participate in continuous learning, and have taken 
the following training measures including enhancement of professional ethics education, provision of overseas 
trainings and opportunities for exchange study with external companies, promotion of multi-post training and 
optimizing training programs, as well as continuing to offer more opportunities for the junior employees to 
participate in all kinds of training activities, allowing them to master the latest professional knowledge and 
skills, keep abreast with the market trend and broaden their horizon, so as to improve the competence of our 
employees. The Group provided various training programs for staff from different departments to meet their 
business needs, covering corporate culture, occupational safety, laws and regulations, professional skills and 
other aspects.

In 2017, the average training hours by gender were 4.1 hours for male and 4.2 hours for female, and that 
by employee category were 5.7 hours for senior management, 3.4 hours for middle management and 4.0 
hours for junior staff. Male and female employees accounted for 74.9% and 25.1% of our total headcount 
respectively, while the senior management, middle management and junior staff account for 4.5%, 11.0% and 
84.5% respectively.

Talents Acquisition and Retention

Our talent selection and recruitment mechanism follows the principles of democracy, openness, impartiality and 
excellence. In the recruitment process, only the candidates’ integrity, ability and innovation capability are our 
most important assessment criteria while other criteria such as gender and age will not be considered in the 
assessment criteria. Where there is a vacancy, we will adopt the policy of “promotion of existing employees 
first and supplemented by introduction of external talents”, and take proactive initiatives to promote our junior 
employees and cultivate them into management talents. We outline career development path for the junior 
staff, offering promotion and pay raise for outstanding employees who have served the Company for over 
three years. Regarding external recruitment, all external applicants shall undergo a series of rigorous selection 
process, including written examination of professional skills, comprehensive ability tests and supervisor interview 
before they are officially hired. We will keep confidential of all applicants’ information. We strictly comply 
with the requirements of labour laws and regulations and has a zero-tolerance policy towards the use of child 
labour in our operation. In the recruitment process, applicants’ age and identity are strictly verified to ensure 
that the applicants are legally qualified for the jobs. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any 
risks associated with the use of child labour. As to dismissal of employees, we generally terminate the labour 
contract by giving a 30-day prior written notice to the employee or with payment of one month’s salary as 
compensation. Further details are set out in the Staff Manual for the employees’ dismissal information. During 
the Reporting Period, a new chapter headed “Anti-discrimination and Equal Opportunity Management” was 
included into the Staff Manual, demonstrating our emphasis on anti-discrimination and equal opportunity.
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Remunerations and Benefits

The Group ensures that the remuneration package is comprehensive and attractive, with employees’ 
remuneration being monthly fixed income plus position wages, allowances and subsidies, monthly performance 
bonus and floating wages. We comply with relevant national or local labor laws and regulations in the PRC to 
provide staff with welfare protection. In addition, the Staff Manual contains detailed information on benefits 
to which employees are entitled, mainly including social insurance (pension, unemployment, medical treatment, 
work-related injuries), housing provident fund, work meal, physical examination, holiday benefits, other 
benefits such as registered permanent residence, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, work-related injury leave, 
bereavement leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, nursing leave and casual leave stipulated by the country, 
as well as purchase of supplemental medical insurance for the employees. In principle, our staff work 7.5 hours 
per day and 37.5 hours per week with 1 hour break at noon. The Group respects employees’ work-rest pattern 
and employees are encouraged to efficiently complete their work within their daily working time. An overtime 
system is also implemented to preclude any forced labour. Under the system, employees must obtain approval 
from their respective department heads and also the human resources department to ensure that employees 
shall only engage overtime work when necessary and have sufficient time to rest. We care about the interests 
and needs of female employees, and implement short working hours for lactation period. Female employees 
who feed babies younger than 1 year old are provided with the flexibility to choose breast-feeding time, twice 
a day and 30 minutes each time. We are abided by the Measures on Medical Insurance for Childbirth and 
Children of Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Area (《天津市經濟技術開發區生育及子女醫療保險
辦法》).

We place importance on the physical and mental development of employees. During the Reporting Period, we 
organized a number of activities under different themes, among which, Tedahang held the 2016 Year-end Party 
in January to express gratitude towards the dedication and hardwork of all staff and review its performance for 
the past year and express its expectation for the coming year.

Fengtian Logistics also purchased many sports equipment such as dumbbell, yoga mat, abdominal roller, 
expander, push-rod, football and basketball, allowing the employees to do fitness exercises during leisure break.

WIN-WIN STRATEGY WITH SUPPLIERS
With effective supply chain management, we strive to improve the overall performance in environmental, 
social and governance. We have established the Supplier Conduct Code (《供應商行為準則》), which requires 
our suppliers to treat their employees fairly, protect the environment, maintain integrity and abide by the laws 
and regulations. We carry out inspection on the suppliers on a yearly basis and establish a transparent system 
for credibility rating. The Group carries out irregular inspection for exceptional occasions and enters into the 
Integrity Agreement (《陽光協議書》) with the suppliers, prohibiting suppliers to participate in the procurement 
activities in violation of the laws and regulations of the PRC and the relevant requirements of the Group.
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CARE FOR COMMUNITY
In order to promote its corporate culture as a socially-responsible entity caring for community, the Group paid 
visit to “Xingyou Rehabilitation Centre for Autistic Children” (“Xingyou Rehabilitation Centre”) to offer gifts 
and extend love for the children. Established in 2011, Xingyou Rehabilitation Centre is a non-profit organisation 
specialising in rehabilitation training for autistic children. Currently, it has a total of 20 patients suffering from 
autism aging from approximately 2 to 28 years old, including patients with cerebral palsy or developmental 
retardation. The management of the Group and staff from various departments paid a visit to Xingyou 
Rehabilitation Centre to talk to the autistic children and offer them some teaching materials (including study 
cards and textbooks), food (including rice, sunflower seed oil, noodles, and flour) and daily necessities (including 
liquid soap, towels, and tissues).

The Group also organised public welfare activities such as visiting the elderly who had no family or were 
disabled in Aixiyang Nursing Home. The management of the Group, chairman of the labour union and staff 
from various departments of the headquarters paid a joint visit to the elders in the nursing home to talk to 
them and offer them with food, daily necessities and recreational goods. Our visit not only enriched their lives, 
but also made them feel happy, being cared and loved. Also, this visit provided an opportunity for our staff to 
have a better understanding of the society and care for the needs of the elderly.

During the Reporting Period, all staff at Tedahang donated winter clothing to villagers in Dipu Village, Dedeng 
Town, Jomda County, Tibet, offering them warmth and care in a cold winter. Located in eastern Tibet, Dipu 
village has a total population of over 500 and 25% of them are children and the elderly. Living in roughly-built 
houses and without sufficient food and clothing, villagers in Dipu Village live a poor and hard life. Not even to 
mention that the children have no access to storybooks and toys. In light of this, the labour union of Tedahang 
called on its staff to contribute their unused old winter coats, down jackets, sweaters, storybooks, picture 
books, stationery and toys, which received warm response from its staff and collected a great quantity of goods 
and materials within a relatively short period.
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The Company believes that stringent corporate governance practices could enhance credibility and transparency 
and are in the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The Company has established a complete set 
of code on corporate governance practices – “Handbook of Corporate Governance Practices” pursuant to 
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules. Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all the 
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules 
throughout the reporting year, save for the deviation of Code A.2.1 and Code A.6.7.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE DIRECTORS
The Group has adopted a code of dealing in securities by the Directors of the Group, which was formulated in 
accordance with Rules 5.48 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of setting out its own required 
standards for assessment of the conduct of the Directors in dealings in the securities of the Group. Upon 
enquiries made to each Director by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the 
code of dealing in securities by the Directors.

THE BOARD
As of the date of this report, the Board of the Company comprised 8 Directors which includes 1 executive 
Director, 3 non-executive Directors and 4 independent non-executive Directors, among which, Zhang Wang (re-
designated from non-executive Director to executive Director on 20 March 2018) is the Chairman and executive 
Director; Zhang Jian (retired on 20 March 2018) was the Chairman and executive Director; Cui Xuesong, 
Tse, Theresa YY (appointed on 12 May 2017), Mr. Tse Ping (resigned on 12 May 2017) and Yang Xiaoping 
are non-executive Directors and Cheng Xinsheng, Chia Pun Kok, Japhet Sebastian Law and Zhou Zisheng are 
independent non-executive Directors. Details of the members of the Board are set out under the section headed 
“Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.

The Board of the Company is responsible to the shareholders in general meeting, and to exercise the functions 
granted by the general meetings and the articles of association of the Company. The major responsibilities of 
the Board include formulating the business plans and investment advices of the Company, convening general 
meetings and signing resolutions proposed at the general meetings, formulating and reviewing the corporate 
governance policies and practices of the Company, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous 
professional development of the Directors and senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, developing, reviewing and 
monitoring the code of conduct and Handbook of Corporate Governance Practices applicable to employees 
and directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance Report of the Company. The interests of Shareholders and the Company is the primary concern 
for every member of the Board. Directors should always comply with the relevant laws and regulations in 
a dedicated manner. The management of the Company is responsible to the Board, to exercise the board 
resolutions and report to the Chairman and the Board in respect of the operation of the Company in a timely 
manner. The management timely provides the updated information to the member of the Board by delivery of 
monthly business report and statements, which set out the performance, financial position and prospects of the 
Company, the evaluations that are fair and easy to understand, etc.

All the independent non-executive Directors appointed by the Company have extensive experience in finance 
or enterprise management and other professional areas. Acting in a careful and detailed manner, independent 
Directors also need to safeguard the interests of the Company and the shareholders by providing independent 
advice relating to connected transactions and material issues of the Company and providing professional 
recommendations for the long-term and stable development of the Company’s business.

The Directors are subject to a term of office of three years and shall be eligible for re-election upon expiry of 
the term in accordance with the Articles. The Board considers that the non-executive Directors and independent 
non-executive Directors could maintain a reasonable balance with the executive Directors of the Board, so as to 
safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders. The non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors perform their responsibilities of developing the Company’s policies by providing constructive 
opinions.
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During the reporting year, the Company complied with the requirements of Rules 5.05(1) and (2) and 5.05A of 
the GEM Listing Rules. As of the end of the reporting year, the Board of the Company comprises 4 independent 
non-executive Directors, among which Cheng Xinsheng has the competent professional qualification in 
accordance with the requirements of Rule 5.05(2). The independent non-executive Directors appointed by the 
Company represent at least one-third of the Board members.

After reassessment of the independence of the independent non-executive Directors by the Company in January 
2018, the Company considered that each of the independent non-executive Directors has complied with all 
independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between the 
Board members.

A comprehensive training was provided for each new Director of the Company after his/her appointment, 
to ensure he/she would understand the operation and business of the Group and be fully aware of his/
her responsibility and obligation as a Director. The Group provides briefings, site visits, seminars and other 
professional development activities to all Directors, so as to enhance his/her awareness of the relevant GEM 
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements as well as the latest developments in the business of 
the Group. During the reporting year, the Directors of the Company complied with Code Provision A.6.5 by the 
following ways:

Attendances of
Discussion/

Director Reading Materials Site Visit Course/Speech

Executive Directors
Zhang Jian (retired on 20 March 2018) √ √ √
Zhang Wang (re-designated from non-executive 

Director to executive Director on 20 March 
2018) √ √ √

Non-executive Directors
Cui Xuesong √ √ √
Tse Ping (resigned on 12 May 2017) √ √ √
Tse, Theresa YY (appointed on 12 May 2017) √ √ √
Yang Xiaoping √ √ √

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheng Xinsheng √ √ √
Chia Pun Kok (appointed on 12 May 2017) √ √ √
Japhet Sebastian Law √ √ √
Zhou Zisheng √ √ √

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board held 5 meetings in 2017 to discuss and decide on material 
strategies, material operating issues, financial issues and other matters as required in the Articles. The Company 
has kept the detailed minutes of the relevant meetings.
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The attendance of the Board members during the year is set out as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General

Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Number of meeting attended/held (Attendance)

Executive Directors
Zhang Jian (retired on  
  20 March 2018) 5/5(100%) N/A N/A 1/1(100%) 2/2(100%)
Zhang Wang Note 1 (re-designated from  
  non-executive Director to executive  
  Director on 20 March 2018) 3/5(60%) N/A N/A N/A 1/2(50%)

Non-executive Directors
Cui Xuesong Note 2 2/5(40%) N/A N/A N/A 1/2(50%)
Tse Ping Note 3 (resigned on  
  12 May 2017) 2/2(100%) N/A N/A N/A 1/1(100%)
Tse, Theresa YY Note 4 (appointed on  
  12 May 2017) 3/3(100%) N/A N/A N/A 1/1(100%)
Yang Xiaoping 5/5(100%) N/A N/A N/A 2/2(100%)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheng Xinsheng 5/5(100%) 7/7(100%) 2/2(100%) 1/1(100%) 2/2(100%)
Chia Pun Kok Note 5 3/3(100%) 7/7(100%) N/A N/A 1/1(100%)
Japhet Sebastian Law 5/5(100%) N/A 2/2(100%) 1/1(100%) 2/2(100%)
Zhou Zisheng Note 6 5/5(100%) 7/7(100%) 2/2(100%) 1/1(100%) 2/2(100%)

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Zhang Wang appointed Mr. Cui Xuesong to attend 1 annual general meeting and 1 board meeting on behalf 
of him; and appointed Mr. Zhang Jian to attend 1 board meeting on behalf of him; those three attendances were 
not included in Mr. Zhang Wang’s attendance. Mr. Zhang Wang didn’t attend these meetings in person due to his 
personal reasons, which is not in compliance with Code Provision A.6.7. Zhang Wang was re-designated from 
non-executive Director to executive Director on 20 March 2018, and he will strive to improve the 
attendance of board meetings and general meetings.

2.	 Mr. Cui Xuesong appointed Mr. Zhang Wang to attend 1 extraordinary general meeting and 2 board meetings on 
behalf of him; and appointed Mr. Zhang Jian to attend 1 board meeting on behalf of him; those four attendances 
were not included in Mr. Cui Xuesong’s attendance. Mr. Cui Xuesong didn’t attend these meetings in person due 
to his personal reasons, which is not in compliance with Code Provision A.6.7.

3.	 Mr. Tse Ping resigned the position of director upon the conclusion of the 2016 annual general 
meeting held on 12 May 2017 due to expiry of term of appointment.

4.	 Miss Tse, Theresa Y Y was appointed as a director upon the conclusion of the 2016 annual general 
meeting held on 12 May 2017.

5.	 Mr. Chia Pun Kok was appointed as a director upon the conclusion of the 2016 annual general 
meeting held on 12 May 2017 and a member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination 
committee upon the conclusion of the Board meeting held on 12 May 2017.

6.	 Mr. Zhou Zisheng resigned as a member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination 
committee upon the conclusion of the Board meeting held on 12 May 2017.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief 
executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The 
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established and set out in 
writing.

As at 31 December 2017, the roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company have been performed by 
Mr. Zhang Jian and he has been responsible for the management of the Board and the operation of the Group. 
The Board considered that Mr. Zhang Jian has thorough understanding and expertise regarding the business 
operations of the Group which enables him to make appropriate decisions which are in the interests of the 
shareholders as a whole on a timely and effective basis. The Company believes that the combination of the 
roles of the Chairman and the CEO makes it possible to formulate and implement the Group’s strategies in 
an efficient manner as well as quickly respond to the ever-changing markets. The Board also considers that, at 
this moment, it is not necessary to separate the roles of the Chairman and the CEO. However, the Board will 
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of the Group in order to decide 
whether the roles of the Chairman and the CEO should be separated.

TERM OF OFFICE AND RE-ELECTION
The terms of office of the Directors of the Company (including independent non-executive Directors) are three 
years. All current Directors of the Company will hold office until the expiry of the fourth session of the Board of 
the Company. The Directors shall retire upon expiry of their terms of office and shall be eligible for re-election.

THE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
Each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company has specific 
terms of reference in place, with the authorities and responsibilities of each committee clearly defined which 
have been published on the websites of the GEM and the Company.

(1)	 Audit committee

The Company has set up an audit committee pursuant to the requirements under Rule 5.28 of the GEM 
Listing Rules and the “Guidelines for the Establishment of Audit Committees” prepared by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and its duties and responsibilities have been properly laid 
down in writing under the requirements of Rule 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee 
currently comprises Mr. Zhou Zisheng (chairman), Mr. Cheng Xinsheng and Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law 
(all being independent non-executive Directors), among which Mr. Cheng Xinsheng has the relevant 
professional qualification and financial experience. The members of the audit committee convene 
meetings regularly with the management and external auditors and review the internal audit report 
and the quarterly, interim and annual results of the Group. The audit committee reviewed the audited 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and recommended approval to the Board. 
In 2017, the audit committee held a total of 7 meetings to review the financial information and the risk 
management and internal control system of the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the 
Company complied with the requirements of Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the audit 
committee.

(2)	 Remuneration committee

The Company has set up a remuneration committee in accordance with the requirements of Rule 5.34 
of the GEM Listing Rules and its duties and responsibilities have been properly laid down in writing 
under the requirements of Rule 5.35 of the GEM Listing Rules. The remuneration committee currently 
comprises Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law (chairman), Mr. Cheng Xinsheng and Mr. Chia Pun Kok (all being 
independent non-executive Directors). The remuneration committee is mainly responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all Directors, 
Supervisors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure 
for developing remuneration policy, reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals 
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, and making recommendations to the Board 
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on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management. In 2017, the 
remuneration committee held two meetings. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has 
complied with the requirements of Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the remuneration 
committee.

(3)	 Nomination committee

The Company has also set up a nomination committee which is responsible for reviewing the structure, 
size and composition of the Board and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board 
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become 
Board members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals 
nominated for directorships, assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and 
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and succession of Directors. 
The nomination committee currently comprises three members, with Mr. Zhang Wang being the 
chairman and Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law and Mr. Chia Pun Kok being the members. A majority of the 
nomination committee members are independent non-executive Directors of the Company. In 2017, the 
nomination committee held one meeting in total and executed the provisions on the nomination of the 
Directors under the Company’s Articles and the policies, procedures and criterias of the Procedures for 
Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior management 
since May 2017.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
As of 31 December 2017, the supervisory committee comprised 6 members, of whom 3 are shareholder 
representative supervisors, 1 is independent supervisor and 2 are employee representative supervisors. The 
responsibility of the supervisory committee is to monitor the Board and its members and senior management so 
as to protect the interests of the shareholders. In 2017, the supervisory committee had monitored the financial 
position and the legal compliance of the operations of the Company and has conducted due diligence review 
of the senior management by convening meetings of supervisory committee and attending Board meetings and 
general meetings. It has duly performed its duties in a detailed and prudent manner.

INTERNAL CONTROL

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s internal 
control system to safeguard shareholder investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system 
of the Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient management which in turn minimizes the risks to which 
the Group is exposed. The system can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement 
or loss.

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-term development of the Group’s 
business. Management is responsible for the establishment, implementation, review and assessment of the 
sound and effective internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. After taking into 
full account of the relevant requirements under the GEM Listing Rules relating to risk management and internal 
control, the management continued to improve its existing risk management and control framework. All 
employees are committed to implementing the risk management framework into the daily operation.
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The Board highly emphasized on internal control and continued to adopt various initiatives to control and 
monitor the business of the Company and prevent potential risks. The Company has established internal 
audit function to conduct regular review on all the policies and procedures of material control, and report 
all material issues to the Board and audit committee at least once annually. During the reporting year, the 
Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and its 
subsidiaries based on the key findings and recommendations for improvement of audit issues provided by its 
internal audit function, and considered the internal control and risk management of the Group as effective. The 
review covered all the material aspects of internal control, including financial control, operational control and 
compliance control as well as risks management.

OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of the Group are to identify and 
manage the risk of the Group and achieve the Group’s strategic objectives within the acceptable safety levels. 
The Group continued to enhance system construction and adopted the OA system to establish and consolidate 
the logic relationship of the internal authorization system, so as to control and mitigate the risks. Meanwhile, 
the Group adopted a three-line risk management approach to identify, analyze, assess, mitigate and handle 
risks. The first line of defence is that our department staff/frontline employees must understand that their roles 
and responsibilities to identify, assess and monitor risks associated with transactions. The second line of defence 
is the Group’s management that provides independent oversight of the risk management activities of the first 
line of defence. It ensures that risks are within the Group’s risk capacity and that the control of the first line of 
defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the audit committee of the Company, with the advices and 
opinions from the external professional party (such as the external auditor) and annual review by the internal 
audit function, ensures that the first and second lines of defence are effective.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE 
INFORMATION

The Company has adopted the GEM Listing Rules and the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of 
the Laws of Hong Kong) to handle and disseminate inside information. The Company ensured compliance in 
respect of the handling and dissemination of inside information by adopting a series of measures including 
enhancing identification and confidentiality awareness of inside information, prohibiting unauthorized use of 
inside information and giving notice of lock-up period and securities dealing restrictions to the Directors and 
employees. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has made announcements on inside 
information in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting:

At the annual general meeting of the Company, shareholders (either independently or jointly) holding 3% 
(included) or more of the total number of the Company’s voting shares shall be entitled to propose new 
motions in writing to the Company. The Company shall include in the agenda for the meeting the matters 
in the motions that fall within the scope of the duties of the shareholders’ general meeting, provided that 
the motion shall reach the Company within 10 days after the said meeting notice is made. The extraordinary 
general meeting shall not resolve on matters not specified in the notice.

Shareholders requesting the convening of an extraordinary general meeting or a meeting of shareholders of 
different classes shall proceed in accordance with the procedures set forth below:

(1)	 two or more shareholders holding a total of 10% or more of the shares carrying the right to vote at 
the meeting sought to be held may sign one or more written requests of identical form and substance 
requesting the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a meeting of shareholders of 
different classes and stating the subject of the meeting. The Board shall convene the extraordinary 
general meeting or the meeting of shareholders of different classes as soon as possible after having 
received the above-mentioned written request. The shareholding referred to above shall be calculated as 
of the day on which the written request is made.
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(2)	 if the Board fails to issue a notice of such a meeting within 30 days after having received the above-
mentioned written request, the shareholders who made such request may themselves convene the 
meeting within four months after the Board received the request. The procedures according to which 
they convene such meeting shall, to the extent possible, be identical to the procedures according to 
which general meetings are to be convened by the Board.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS
The Board intends to encourage and maintain on-going communication with the shareholders through various 
channels. The Company’s annual general meeting provides a good opportunity for the Directors to meet 
and communicate with the shareholders. All Directors shall use their best endeavors to attend the annual 
general meeting so as to reply enquiries of the shareholders of the Company. In respect of any discloseable 
and significant matters, the Company makes timely, accurate and complete disclosure in newspapers and 
websites specified by the relevant regulatory authorities pursuant to the disclosure requirements under the 
GEM Listing Rules in order to safeguard the right to information and participation of the shareholders. The 
Company has established a specialised department responsible for investor relations. Placing strong emphasis 
on communication with investors, the Company has arranged a number of general meetings with shareholders 
and organises site visits for shareholders so as to enhance investors’ understanding of and confidence in the 
Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of accounts for each financial period by the 
management, and issuing appropriate announcements in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules for disclosure 
of all information necessary for the shareholders to assess the financial performance and other matters of the 
Company.

The Company has appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the international auditor of the Company 
for the year 2017. Fees for audit service provided to the Group by the above-mentioned auditor for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 amounted to RMB1,760,000 and there was no non-audit service provided.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the financial statements which can truthfully 
and fairly reflect financial positions of the Company and its subsidiaries pursuant to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the discloure requirements of the Companies Ordinance in Hong Kong.

The statements made by the independent auditors of the Company on their responsibilities for the financial 
statements are set out in the independent auditors’ report in this report.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
The Company engages an external service provider to provide secretarial service and has appointed Mr. Lo Tai 
On (“Mr. Lo”) as company secretary. Mr. Lo has confirmed that for the period under review, he has attended 
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. His internal and principle contact person in the 
Company is Mr. Jia Wenxuan (“Mr. Jia”), deputy president of the Company and secretary of the Board. He 
resigned from the positions of a joint company secretary and secretary of the Board on 20 December 2017, 
details of which was set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 December 2017.

Following Mr. Jia’s resignation as a joint company secretary, Mr. Lo will remain as the company secretary of 
the Company with effect from 20 December 2017 and will continue to perform and discharge the duties of a 
company secretary under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
According to the overall requirement by the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China on the 
incorporation of Party building work into the articles of association, the Company amended the articles of 
association during the year, and the relevant matters involved in relation to registration shall be changed 
altogether. Such amendments to the articles of association were approved by the directors at the Board meeting 
held on 13 November 2017 and the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 
15 January 2018.

The new articles of association of the Company is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company.

GENERAL MEETINGS
The general meeting of the Company has the highest authority. Totally two general meetings were held in 
2017. The Company convened an annual general meeting on 12 May 2017 to consider and approve the 
resolutions relating to Directors’ Report for 2016 and Report of the Supervisory Committee for 2016. The 
chairman of the Board and the members of each committee attended the annual general meeting held in 2017, 
so as to answer questions raised by shareholders. In addition, chairman of the Independent Board Committee 
has attended the annual general meeting held in 2017 to answer questions related to connected transactions 
raised by shareholders. The Company highly values the functions of the general meeting as it is considered to 
be a direct and effective communication channel between the Board and investors of the Company, and thus 
encourages all shareholders to attend the general meetings. The Articles have laid out provisions in respect 
of the rights of the shareholders including the rights to attend, to receive notices of, and to vote at general 
meetings.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive logistics services in China, mainly including 
supply chain solutions and materials procurement and related logistics services.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Company during the year and a discussion on the Company’s future business 
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Description of 
possible risks and uncertainties that the Company may be facing can be found in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis”. Also, the financial risk factors and capital risk management of the Company can be 
found in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Company’s performance during 
the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Review of this annual report. 
In addition, discussions on the Company’s environmental policies and performance, key relationships with its 
employees, customers, suppliers are contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report” of this annual report. The Company’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a 
significant impact on the Company is contained in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this 
annual report.

RESULTS
The financial highlights of the Reporting Period are set out on page 5 of this annual report. Discussion and 
analysis of the results and financial position of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 15 of this annual report. 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is set out on page 59 of this annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) are set out on pages 59 to 63 of this annual report.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS AND DIVIDENDS
As at 31 December 2017, profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company was approximately 
RMB22,732,000. The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2017 (corresponding period of 2016: RMB0.03).

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Reporting Period and details of 
the distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

STATUTORY RESERVE FUNDS
Details of the statutory reserve funds are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of movements in properties of the Group and the Company during the Reporting Period are set out 
in Note 14 to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
There was no material contract between the Group and the controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries during 
the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A financial summary including the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial 
years is set out in the section headed “Financial Summary” of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
During the year, the Company had neither made any investment for establishment of any new company nor 
increased or withdrawn any capital to or from its invested subsidiaries or associates.

CAPITALISED INTERESTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company had no capitalised interest (2016: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL
During the Reporting Period, there was no change in the Company’s share capital. Details are set out in Note 
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles which requires the Company to offer new 
shares in proportion to existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The directors and supervisors in office during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors Date of appointment
Zhang Jian (Chairman) (retired on 20 March 2018) 12 May 2017
Zhang Wang (Chairman) (re-designated from non-executive Director to
   executive Director and Chairman on 20 March 2018) 12 May 2017

Non-executive Directors
Tse Ping (resigned on 12 May 2017 due to expiry of term of appointment) 21 June 2014
Tse, Theresa YY 12 May 2017
Yang Xiaoping 12 May 2017
Cui Xuesong 12 May 2017

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheng Xinsheng 12 May 2017
Chia Pun Kok 12 May 2017
Japhet Sebastian Law 12 May 2017
Zhou Zisheng 12 May 2017

Supervisors
Xu Jianxin 12 May 2017
Wang Rui 12 May 2017
Wang Yonggan 12 May 2017
Wu Gang 12 May 2017
Fan Shuyu 12 May 2017
Wang Linlin 12 May 2017
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors the annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Listing Rules, and confirmed that all the independent non-executive 
Directors of the Company are independent persons.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company.

None of the Directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company, which is not 
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
The Company has not entered into any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in which any of 
its directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, at any time during the year.

Save for contracts amongst group companies, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 
to which the Company or its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a 
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year 
or at any time of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
The Company has not entered into any contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole 
or any substantial part of the business of the Company at any time during the year.

ENVIRONMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Group abides by the local laws, regulations and guidelines issued by the government authorities and 
puts great emphasis on environmental protection during the course of operation. The Group made efforts to 
improve logistics efficiency, optimized transportation routes and transportation modes, promoted railway and 
waterway transportation due to less discharge of pollutants, and strictly adhered to the principle of recycle and 
resource conservation, especially the recycling of packaging materials.

Our main stakeholders include the customers, suppliers and employees. We enhance communication with the 
stakeholders through day-to-day interactions, enabling us to understand and satisfy their respective needs. 
We place great importance on the feedbacks of our customers, and improve the quality of our services and 
maintenance work based on these advices. We also recognize the importance of our relationship with the 
suppliers and the employees. We have established a trust relationship with our brand suppliers. We provide 
various trainings and benefits for our employees to develop their potentials, and move quickly to solve any 
potential work issues for them. Further details on the environmental policy and performance are set out in the 
environmental, social and governance report which forms a part of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior management 
since May 2017 in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate 
activities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or 
subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION AND THE 
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and the five highest paid individuals are set out 
in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

The remuneration offered to the Directors and senior management shall be determined based on, among other 
things, individual experience, responsibility and time devoted to the Company.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors, supervisors or chief executives of the Company had any 
interest and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were (a) required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or 
short positions which the directors and supervisors are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO); or (b) recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) otherwise 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM 
Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2017, none of the directors, supervisors or chief executives held any beneficial interests 
in the equity interests of any member of the Group, or had any right (whether legally enforceable or not) to 
subscribe for or to nominate others to subscribe for any securities in any member of the Group, or had any 
interest, directly or indirectly, in any assets acquired or leased or proposed to be acquired since 1 January 2017.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS HOLDING INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF 
THE COMPANY
So far as is known to the Directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company, as at 31 December 2017, 
the following persons had interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company 
which were required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO or had, directly or indirectly, been interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class 
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meeting of the Company ; or which were 
required to be recorded in the register specified in Section 336 of the SFO pursuant to such Section:

Long position in shares of the Company

Approximate
Approximate percentage of

percentage of shareholding to
Number and shareholding the Company’s

class of shares in the same total issued
Name Capacity (Note 1) class of shares share capital

Tianjin Teda Investment Beneficial owner 150,420,051 (L) 58.74% 42.45%
  Holding Co., Ltd. Domestic shares

Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Beneficial owner 77,303,789 (L) 30.19% 21.82%
  Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Domestic shares

Chia Tai Land Company Limited Beneficial owner 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
Domestic shares

Tianjin Port Development Beneficial owner 20,000,000 (L) 20.36% 5.64%
  Holdings Limited H shares

Hongkong Topway Trading Beneficial owner 10,000,000 (L) 10.18% 2.82%
  Co., Limited H shares

The National Council for Social Beneficial owner 8,931,200 (L) 9.09% 2.52%
  Security Fund of the H shares
  People’s Republic of China
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On 7 June 2013, Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Economic and Technological 
Development Area State Asset Operation Company transferred 28,344,960 and 77,303,789 domestic shares of 
the Company held by them to Chia Tai Land Company Limited and Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Investment (Beijing) 
Co., Ltd., respectively and completed the transfer of the shares. So far as is known to the Directors, chief 
executives and supervisors of the Company, as at 31 December 2017, the deemed interests of Chia Tai Land 
Company Limited, Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and their associates under Part XV of 
the SFO were as follows:

Approximate
Approximate percentage of

percentage of shareholding to
Number and shareholding the Company’s

class of shares in the same total issued
Name Capacity (Note 1) class of shares share capital

Chia Tai Land Company Limited Beneficial owner 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
  正大置地有限公司 Domestic shares

Fortune (Shanghai) Limited Interest of corporation 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
  富泰（上海）有限公司   controlled by a Domestic shares

  substantial shareholder

Charoen Pokphand Group Interest of corporation 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
  (BVI) Holdings Limited   controlled by a Domestic shares
  正大集團(BVI)控股有限公司   substantial shareholder

CPG Overseas Interest of corporation 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
  Company Limited   controlled by a Domestic shares

  substantial shareholder

Charoen Pokphand Group Interest of corporation 28,344,960 (L) 11.07% 8%
  Co., Ltd.   controlled by a Domestic shares

  substantial shareholder

Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Beneficial owner 77,303,789 (L) 30.19% 21.82%
  Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Domestic shares
  正大製藥投資（北京）有限公司

Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited Interest of corporation 77,303,789 (L) 30.19% 21.82%
  中國生物製藥有限公司   controlled by a Domestic shares

  substantial shareholder

Note:

1.	 The letter “L” denotes the shareholders’ long position in the share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed in this report, so far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, as 
at 31 December 2017, no other persons (other than the Directors or chief executives or supervisors of the 
Company) had interests or short positions which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or had, directly or indirectly, been interested in 5% or 
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general 
meeting of the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company; or which were required to be recorded in the 
register specified in Section 336 of the SFO pursuant to such Section.
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SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS INCENTIVE SCHEME
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no arrangement for such plan.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Reporting Period, the percentages of income of the Group from sales of goods and provision of 
services to major customers to the turnover of the Group are as follows:

Tong Fang Global (Tianjin) Logistics Co., Ltd. (同方環球(天津)物流有限公司) 35%
Tangshan Donghua Steel Group Co., Ltd. (唐山東華鋼鐵企業集團有限公司) 12%
Hebei Jizhong Tangneng Trade Co., Ltd. (河北冀中唐能貿易有限公司) 10%
Tianjin Tongguang Group Digital Communication Company Limited 
(天津通廣集團數字通信有限公司) 9%
Guoben (Shanghai) Enterprise Development Company Limited 
(國本（上海）企業發展有限公司) 7%

Five largest customers in total 73%

None of the five largest customers above is a connected party of the Group pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the percentages of expenses of the Group arising from the purchase of goods and 
services from major suppliers to the cost of sales of the Group are as follows:

Tangshan Fengnan Dongyu Commercial Trade Co., Ltd. (唐山市豐南區東煜商貿有限公司) 14%
Leimeng (Tianjin) Enterprise Company Limited (雷盟（天津）實業有限公司) 11%
Shanghai Textile Raw Materials Corporation (上海市紡織原料公司) 9%
Tianjin Guoji Dongtai Co., Ltd. (天津國機東泰有限公司) 9%
Guoshang Group Co., Ltd. (國商控股有限公司) 6%

Five largest suppliers in total 49%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major suppliers or customers.

COMPETING INTERESTS
None of the Directors, management shareholders or substantial shareholders of the Company or their respective 
associates has interest in business that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has any 
other conflicts of interests with the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group has entered into continuing connected transactions with the following entities which are regarded 
as connected persons of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules as at 31 December 2017:

1.	 Toyota Tsusho Corporation, which holds approximately 36.2% interest in Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., 
Ltd. (“Tianjin Fengtian”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), is a substantial shareholder of 
a subsidiary of the Company. Under the GEM Listing Rules, Toyota Tsusho Corporation is a connected 
person of the Company.

2.	 Tedahang is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. On 5 January 2017, Chia Tai Logistics 
Company Limited*(正大物流有限公司)(“Chia Tai Logistics”) held 40% of the equity interest in Tedahang 
and became a controlling shareholder of Tedahang. Therefore, the registered capital of Tedahang 
is owned as to 60% by the Company and 40% by Chia Tai Logistics. Chia Tai Pharmaceutical holds 
21.82% interest in the Company, which is a substantial shareholder and connected person of the 
Company. Both Chia Tai Logistics and Chia Tai Pharmaceutical are wholly-owned companies of Sino 
Biopharmaceutical Limited (“Sino Biopharmaceutical”) and hence each of them is an associate (defined 
under the GEM Listing Rules) of Chia Tai Pharmaceutical. Tedahang is a 30%-controlled company (as 
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) directly/indirectly held by Chia Tai Logistics, Chia Tai Pharmaceutical 
and Sino Biopharmaceutical, and therefore Tedahang is a connected person of the Company under the 
GEM Listing Rules.
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Details in relation to the connected transactions and continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 
December 2017 are as follows:

Continuing connected transactions

On 26 September 2016, Tianjin Fengtian (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a 
logistics service agreement (the “Logistics Service Agreement”) with Toyota Tsusho Corporation, pursuant to 
which Tianjin Fengtian agreed to provide logistics services and supply chain solutions for automobiles and car 
components to Toyota Tsusho Corporation up to 31 December 2019. The Logistics Service Agreement and the 
transactions contemplated thereunder were in compliance with the requirements under Rule 20.99 of the GEM 
Listing Rules, and were exempted from the circular, independent financial advice and the shareholders’ approval 
requirements. Please refer to the announcement dated 26 September 2016 for details.

On 12 May 2017, the Company and Tedahang entered into the business cooperation framework agreement 
(“Meal Sale and Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which Tedahang would sell various frozen meat and provide 
related storage, logistics and logistics supporting services to the Company, for a term of three years from 1 
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. The continuing connected transactions are subject to the reporting, annual 
review, announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of 
the GEM Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 May 2017 and the 
Company’s circular dated 6 July 2017.

ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL FIGURE OF NON-EXEMPTED CONTINUING 
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS OF THE COMPANY

Description of transaction
Annual Cap

for 2017
Actual Figure

for 2017
RMB‘000 RMB‘000

Logistics Service Agreement 34,000 22,290
Meat Sale and Purchase Agreement 62,500 22,137
   

The independent non-executive Directors, Cheng Xinsheng, Japhet Sebastian Law and Zhou Zisheng, have 
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that they have been entered into:

(1)	 in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)	 on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Company than terms available to or 
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(3)	 in accordance with the relevant agreements with terms which are fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the shareholders as a whole.

In addition, the Group has duly complied with the requirements under Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on 
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and 
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 44 to 45 of 
the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those material related party transactions disclosed in Note 
34 to the financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing 
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to 
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 
the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements (if 
any) under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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LITIGATION
As at 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was engaged in any litigation or 
arbitration of material importance and, no litigation or claim of material importance was pending or threatened 
against the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, or 
redeemed or sold or cancelled any listed securities of the Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has, 
up to the date of this report, maintained the public float required by the Listing Rules and approved by the 
Stock Exchange.

TRUST DEPOSITS
As at 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries placed any trust deposits with any 
financial institutions within or outside the PRC.

AUDITORS
The financial statements have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who will retire and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned and HLB was appointed as auditor of the Company on 24 April 2015. The 
financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and subsequent financial 
years were audited by HLB. The financial statements of the Company for the past financial years ended 31 
December 2013 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. Save as indicated above, there has been no other 
change of auditor in the preceding three years.

DISCLOSURE UNDER CHAPTER 17 OF THE GEM LISTING RULES
The Directors are not aware of any circumstances that would give rise to a disclosure requirement under Rules 
17.15 to 17.21 of the GEM Listing Rules.

By order of the Board
Zhang Wang

Tianjin, the PRC, 20 March 2018
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Dear shareholders,

Pursuant to the “Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the articles of association of the Company 
and the relevant regulations regarding Hong Kong listed companies, the supervisory committee of the Company 
(the “Supervisory Committee”), under its fiduciary duty, has taken up a responsible role to work reasonably and 
cautiously with integrity and diligence to protect the interests of the Company, its shareholders and staff.

During the year, the Supervisory Committee duly reviewed the operational and development plans of the 
Company, the supervisors made their best endeavours to attend each Board meeting and general meeting held 
in 2017, and provided reasonable opinions and recommendations to the Board. It also constantly monitored the 
Company’s financial status and administered the code of practices of the Directors, general manager and other 
senior management. The Supervisory Committee has made stringent and effective supervision on whether any 
material and concrete decision made by the management of the Company is in compliance with the laws and 
regulations of the PRC and the articles of association of the Company, and whether it is in the interests of its 
shareholders.

Through its efforts made on supervision and inspections during 2017, the Supervisory Committee considered 
that the members of the Board, the general manager and other senior management of the Company, 
during the course of business operation and management, all strictly observed their fiduciary duties, to act 
diligently and to exercise their authority faithfully under the premise of safeguarding the best interests of the 
Company. They carried out duties in accordance with the requirements set out in the articles of association 
of the Company. During the Reporting Period, the Company carried out operations according to the law 
with a standardised management style, and its operating results were objective and true. The Company had 
an integral, reasonable and effective internal control system, and its operation decision-making process was 
legal. The connected transactions of the Company have been carried out on fair and reasonable terms that 
are in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole, and no violation to the interests of the 
shareholders and the Company has been found. To date, none of the Directors, supervisors, general manager 
and other senior management had been found abusing their authority, damaging the interests of the Company 
or infringing upon the interests of its shareholders and employees, nor found to be in breach of any laws and 
regulations or the articles of association of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee has exercised supervision over the execution of the resolutions of the general 
meeting and considers that the Board is capable of executing the resolutions of the general meeting diligently.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance and the economic benefits achieved by the 
Company in 2017, and has full confidence in the future development of the Company.

During the year, the Supervisory Committee of the Company will continue to perform its duties pursuant to the 
relevant laws and regulations by adhering to the fiduciary duties and strengthening its supervisory work so as to 
safeguard and protect the interests of the Company and the shareholders, fulfill its responsibility in an honest 
and diligent manner and hence achieve good performance in every aspect.

By order of the Supervisory Committee
Xu Jianxin
Chairman

Tianjin, the PRC, 20 March 2018
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Jian (張艦), aged 60, a senior engineer and a fellow of China National Democratic Construction 
Association, and joined the Company as the chairman and general manager in June 2006. He graduated 
from the semiconductor physics and devices profession (半導體物理與器件專業) of the electronic engineering 
department of Tianjin University (天津大學) with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1982. He obtained a 
master’s degree in business administration from the National University of Singapore in 2003. From 1984 to 
1985, he performed administrative secretarial work in Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Area 
Corporation, the predecessor of Teda Holding. From 1985 to 1987, he worked as a project manager at Teda 
Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (天津開發區工業投資公司). From 1987 to 1995, he worked as a deputy manager 
in Heat and Power Company of Teda Holding (泰達控股熱電公司), a company controlled by Teda Holding, the 
controlling Shareholder and an initial management Shareholder. From 1995 to 2008, he had been the manager 
of the investment management department of Teda Holding. He was a director of Tianjin Binhai Energy & 
Development Co., Ltd. (天津濱海能源發展股份有限公司) (Stock code: 000695, Shenzhen Stock Exchange), the 
chairman of the supervisory committee of Tianjin Jinbin Development Co., Ltd. (天津津濱發展股份有限公司) (Stock 
code: 000897, Shenzhen Stock Exchange), the chairman of TEDA General Bonded Warehouse Co., Ltd., Tianjin 
Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd.,Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd., Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., 
Ltd., Tianjin TEDA International Freight Forwarding Co., Ltd., Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. and Dalian 
Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. (all being member companies of the Group), the vice chairman of Tianjin Port 
Gangwan International Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Ferroalloy Exchange Co., Ltd., the director of 
He Guang Trade and Business Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Tianxin Automobile Inspection Services Co., Ltd. (天津天鑫機
動車檢測服務有限公司), the vice president of the China Society of Logisitcs and the committee member of the 
2nd CPPCC of Binhai New District, Tianjin. He is currently the vice president of the China Federation of Logistics 
and Purchasing. Both Tianjin Jinbin Development Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Binhai Energy Co., Ltd. are affiliated 
companies of Teda Holding, the controlling Shareholder and an initial management Shareholder. (Mr. Zhang 
Jian retired and resigned all the positions in the Group on 20 March 2018). He is currently the vice chairman of 
China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing.

Mr. Zhang Wang (張旺), aged 37, joined the Company as a non-executive Director in November 2016 and re-
designated as an executive Director and Chairman on 20 March 2018. He graduated from the Department of 
Environmental Engineering of the Faculty of Environmental Science & Engineering of Hunan University (湖南大學). 
He used to be employed at the engineering department of Tianjin Teda Water Supply Co., Ltd. (天津泰達自來水
有限公司); and was the department head of the water supply management department, the department head 
of the operation department, chairman of the labor union and the production technology director of Tianjin 
Teda Water Co., Ltd. (天津泰達水務有限公司); the deputy manager in the investment management department 
of Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd.; and the vice general manager of Tianjin Binhai New District 
Teda Qihang Yacht Club Co., Ltd. (天津濱海新區泰達啟航遊艇俱樂部有限公司). He is now the manager in the 
investment management department of Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd..

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cui Xuesong (崔雪松), aged 39, joined the Company as a non-executive Director in June 2014. He 
graduated from Tianjin University with a master’s degree in management science and engineering. Mr. Cui once 
served as the office director and the director of the Investment Promotion Department of the Modern Industrial 
Zone of TEDA, the deputy manager of the investment management department of Tianjin Teda Investment 
Holding Co., Ltd. and the director of Tianjin Steel Pipe Group Corporation (天津鋼管集團股份有限公司) and 
China-Africa TEDA Investment Co., Ltd. (中非泰達投資股份有限公司). He is currently the manager of the asset 
management department of Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd..



ANNUAL REPORT 2017 49

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Xiaoping (楊小平), aged 53, joined the Company as a non-executive Director in December 2012. He 
is currently the senior vice president of Charoen Pokphand Group, executive director of C.P. Lotus Corporation, 
chief executive officer of CT Bright Holdings Limited and senior vice chairman of Chia Tai Group Agro-Industry 
and Food Business China Area. Mr. Yang previously acted as the manager of Nichiyo Co., Ltd for China Division 
and the Chief Representative of Nichiyo Co., Ltd, Beijing Office. Mr. Yang is also a member of the twelfth 
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, director of Ping An Insurance 
(Group) Company of China (中國平安保險集團), a non-executive director of CITIC Limited, deputy dean of 
China Institute for Rural Studies, Tsinghua University (清華大學中國農村研究院), chairman of the Connected 
Transaction Committee under the Board of China Minsheng Investment Corp. Ltd, council of China Association 
for NGO International Trade (中國民間組織國際交易促進會), vice president of Beijing Association of Enterprises 
with Foreign Investment (北京市外商投資企業協會 ), investment promotion advisor to Beijing Municipal 
Government and president of Jilin Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (吉林省外商投資企業協
會). Mr. Yang holds a bachelor’s degree from Jiangxi Institute of Science & Technology (江西工學院) and has 
experience in overseas studies in Japan.

Miss Tse, Theresa YY (謝其潤 ), aged 25, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Science from the Department 
of Economics of Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. She majored in finance and medical 
management at the school. She once worked with the investment, finance and corporate development 
departments of various companies. She has been an executive director, chairlady of the board of directors, 
chairlady of the executive board committee and nomination committee of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited (Stock 
Code: 01177, Stock Exchange) since June 2015.

Mr. Tse Ping (謝炳), aged 66, joined the Company as a non-executive Director in December 2012. He is the 
Founder and currently an chief executive officer of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited, a listed company on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 01177), responsible for overall operation. With more than 24 years of 
pharmaceutical related investment and management experience in China, Mr. Tse is currently a director of Chia 
Tai – Tianqing Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (“CT Tianqing”), Nanjing Chia Tai Tianqing Pharmaceutical Co., 
Ltd., Jiangsu Chia Tai Fenghai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Jiangsu Chiatai Qing Jiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., 
Qingdao Chia Tai Haier Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Qingdao Chia Tai Haier Medicines Co., Ltd., Qingdao Heng 
Seng Tang Pharmacy Co., Ltd. and Beijing Tide Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (“Beijing Tide”). He is also a director 
of Shanghai Fortune World Development Co., Ltd. (上海富都世界發展有限公司), Tianjin Chiatai Feed Tech 
Co., Ltd.(天津正大飼料科技有限公司), Syn Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (新興能源科技有限公司) and Chia Tai 
Overseas Chinese Realty Development Co., Ltd. (正大僑商房地產開發有限公司). Mr. Tse was formerly the vice 
chairman of C.P. Lotus Corporation (the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange). 
Mr. Tse was also the vice chairman of Shenzhen 999 Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (深圳三九藥業有限公司), and was 
involved in the management of Hainan Haiyao Co., Ltd. (海南海藥股份有限公司) (formerly known as Hainan 
Pharmaceutical Industrial Joint-Stock Company Limited (海南海藥實業股份有限公司)), which is now listed on 
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse was also formerly the chairman of Chia Tai Qingchunbao Pharmaceutical 
Co., Ltd. (“CTQ”, which is now a subsidiary of Shanghai Industrial Investment (Holdings) Co., Ltd.) and Xian C.P. 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and the executive chairman of TM International Bank Co., Ltd, based in Shanghai. Mr. 
Tse is still a director of CTQ, a committee member of the Association of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology of China 
and an honorary professor of Shenyang University of Pharmacy.

Within the pharmaceutical industry in China, with the leadership by Mr. Tse Ping, Sino Biopharmaceutical 
Limited’s market in hepatitis medicines and the therapeutic segment of micro-sphere target sustained medicine 
demonstrates a leading position. CT Tianqing, Beijing Tide and CTQ were ranked the top 100 profit-making 
enterprises under the National Pharmaceutical Industrial Statistics Annual Report. In November, 2005, Sino 
Biopharmaceutical Limited was awarded “Best under 1 US Billion enterprise within the Asian Pacific Region” 
by Forbes Asia. At the first “Capital – Chinese Outstanding Enterprise Achievement Prize” campaign launched 
by the Capital Magazine, Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited was awarded “Capital – Chinese Outstanding 
Pharmaceutical Group Prize” in May, 2006. In January 2008, Mr. Tse was granted the “World Outstanding 
Chinese Award” in Hong Kong and awarded an honorary doctorate degree from the University of West 
Alabama in the United States. He also received “2007/2008 Fellowship of Asian Knowledge Management 
Association” from the Asian Knowledge Management Association in December 2008. In June 2010, Mr. Tse 
was awarded the “2010 Top Ten Most Innovative Leaders of Chinese Enterprises” by the Chinese Association 
of Productivity Science and China Enterprises News.
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Mr. Tse was a member of the Ninth, the Tenth and the Eleventh National Committee of the Chinese People’s 
Political Consultative Conference, and is currently the vice chairman of China Overseas Chinese Entrepreneurs 
Association and China International Council for the Promotion of Multinational Corporations. (Mr. Tse Ping was 
resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company on 12 May 2017).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Xinsheng (程新生), aged 55, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director in 
June 2014. He is a professor of Business School of Nankai University as well as a Doctor and Postdoctor of 
Management (accounting). From 2004 to 2005, he was the visiting scholar of University of Alberta in Canada 
and the assistant executive editor-in-chief of Nankai Business Review and was honored with the awards of 
outstanding result in social science for several times. In 1994, he became a fellow member of the Chinese 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was in charge of three research projects in Management funded by 
National Natural Science Foundation and three projects funded by the Foundation of the Ministry of Education. 
He also participated in over ten key topic projects funded by National Natural Science Foundation, National 
Philosophy and Social Science Foundation and the Humanities and Social Sciences Foundation of the Ministry of 
Education. He has published five books and over 50 articles and has a translated work. He was an independent 
director of Offshore Oil Engineering Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 600583, Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Cheng is 
currently an independent supervisor of China Oilfield Services Limited (Stock Code: 601808, Shanghai Stock 
Exchange).

Mr. Japhet Sebastian Law (羅文鈺), aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in August 
2012. He obtained his Doctorate degree of Philosophy in mechanical/industrial engineering from the University of 
Texas at Austin in 1976. He joined the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1986. Mr. Law was the Associate Dean 
and subsequently the Dean of the Faculty of Business Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong from 
1993 until 2002 and retired from the University of Hong Kong on 1 August 2012. Prior to returning to Hong Kong, 
Mr. Law was the director of Operations Research at the Cullen College of Engineering and director of Graduate 
Studies in Industrial Engineering at the University of Houston, and was also involved with the U.S. Space Program 
in his career with McDonnell Douglas and Ford Aerospace in the United States. Mr. Law has consulted with various 
corporations in Hong Kong and overseas. He is also active in public services, having served as a member of the 
Provisional Regional Council of The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and various other 
committees, and is also active on the boards of profit, non-profit and charitable organisations in Hong Kong and 
overseas. From July 2010 to July 2013, he was an independent non-executive director of Cypress Jade Agricultural 
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 00875). From August 2013 to July 2016, he was an independent non-executive 
director of Shanghai La Chapelle Fashion Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 06116). Mr. Law is currently an independent non-
executive director of Beijing Capital International Airport Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 00694), Tianjin Port Development 
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382), Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 00078), Shougang 
Fushan Resources Group Limited (Stock Code: 00639) and Binhai Investment Company Limited (Stock Code: 02886), 
being companies whose shares are listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and Global Digital 
Creations Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 08271), being company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhou Zisheng (周自盛), aged 68, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director in June 
2014. He is an associate professor of economics and a fellow of China National Democratic Construction 
Association. He once served as the Deputy Secretary and the Director of Practice Standards Working Committee 
of Securities Association of China. From December 2009 to February 2014, Mr. Zhou served as the independent 
director of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Company Limited (四環藥業股份有限公司) (Stock Code: 000605, Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Chia Pun Kok (車品覺), aged 52, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director in May 
2017. He holds an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree from Tsinghua University, 
an EMBA degree from the Institut Européen d’ Administration des Affaires (INSEAD), a Bachelor’s degree in 
Business Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland and a postgraduate diploma in information 
system from the University of New South Wales. He is also the author of the best-selling book “A Decisive 
Battle against Big Data: A weapon to control the future business”. Mr. Chia has more than ten years’ practical 
experience in data with unique insights into the future trend of big data. He led Alibaba’s data team in making 
a series of important achievements regarding the application of big data. Mr. Chia served as international 
product manager of Microsoft from 2001 to 2005, chief product officer at Dunhuang Network (DHgate.
com) from August 2006 to July 2010, vice chairman of Alibaba Group and chairman of Ali Data Committee 
from 2010 to 2016, a non-executive director of CITIC 21CN Company Limited (now known as Alibaba Health 
Information Technology Limited) (Stock Code: 00241, Stock Exchange) from 2014 to 2015, product director of 
eBay from 2015 to 2016. Currently, Mr. Chia is president of the Data Research Institute of Youedata and an 
expert and partner of Sequoia Capital China, deputy director of the Working Group for big data standardization 
of China National Information Technology Standardization Committee, an advisor to the Big Data Committee 
of Guiyang City, a part-time professor of the Management School of Zhejiang University and a member of the 
Education Steering Committee (the big data project) of Tsinghua University.

SUPERVISORS

Shareholder Representative Supervisors

Ms. Xu Jianxin (徐建新), aged 53, was the solicitor of Tianjin Teda Law Firm, the legal advisor of Tianjin Teda 
Investment Holding Co., Ltd., the deputy director and legal advisor of the office of Tianjin Teda Investment 
Holding Co., Ltd. and the chairman of the supervisory committee of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Company Limited (四
環藥業股份有限公司). She was the supervisor of Tianjin Seamless Steel Pipe (Group) Corporation Limited (天津
無縫鋼管集團有限公司) and Tianjin Binhai Energy & Development Co., Ltd. (天津濱海能源發展股份有限公司), as 
well as the head of the Legal Affairs and Internal Audit Department and the secretary to the board of directors 
of Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd.. She is currently serving as deputy secretary to the Disciplinary 
Committee and officer of the Discipline and Inspection Department of Tianjin Teda Investment Holding Co., 
Ltd.. She is concurrently holding the positions of the chairman of the supervisory committee of Tianjin Jinbin 
Development Co., Ltd, the supervisor of Northern International Trust Co., Ltd. (北方國際信託股份有限公司), the 
supervisor of Tianjin Teda International (Group) Holding Company Limited (天津市泰達國際控股（集團）有限公司) 
and the director of Bohai Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd..

Mr. Wang Rui (王蕤), aged 55, is a senior engineer. He graduated from Tianjin Shipping Technical Institute (天
津水運技校) and the Department of Mechanical Engineering of Tianjin Technology and Education College (天津
職業技術師範學院) in 1981 and 1987, respectively. He completed a bachelor course majoring in administrative 
management at Tianjin University in 2000 and obtained a master’s degree in transportation planning and 
management from Dalian Maritime University (大連海事大學) in 2009. Mr. Wang had been a trainee teacher at 
Tianjin Shipping Technical Institute from 1983 to 1985; successively a teacher, the deputy department head and 
department head of Tianjin Port Staff Training Centre (天津港職工培訓中心) from 1987 to 1996. He held the 
positions of the deputy general manager and general manager of Tianjin Port Storage & Transportation Co., Ltd. (天
津港儲運股份有限公司) from 1996 to 2006; and the general manager of Tianjin Port International Logistics 
Development Co., Ltd. (天津港國際物流發展有限公司) from 2006 to 2010. Mr. Wang has been an executive 
director and deputy general manager of Tianjin Port Development Holdings Limited (天津港發展控股有限公司)
(Stock code: 3382, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong) since 2010.
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Mr. Wang Yonggan (王永干), aged 40, is a certified public accountant registered in China and a tax 
accountant registered in China. He graduated from Dalian University of Technology with a Master’s degree 
in Business Administration. He was the assistant director and deputy director of the finance department of 
Jiangsu Chia Tai Tian Qing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, finance manager and assistant finance director of Chia Tai 
Pharmaceutical Group, deputy general manager, general manager and director of Chia Tai Energy Materials 
(Dalian) Co., Ltd, general manager of the risk audit department of Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Group. Currently, he 
is executive deputy general manager and a director of Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd..

Independent Supervisors

Mr. Wu Gang (巫鋼), aged 52, graduated from Tianjin University of Technology and obtained a Doctor’s 
degree from the Business School of Tianjin University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Wu has extensive 
experience in corporate management and capital market operations with involvement in listing and refinancing 
of various onshore and offshore companies. He was deputy director of the Office of Tianjin Li Da Group Co., 
Ltd, secretary of the board and deputy general manager of Tianjin Jinbin Development Co., Ltd. (SZSE: 000897), 
chairman of Tianjin Jinbin New Materials Co., Ltd., chairman and general manager of Tianjin Jinbin Yadu Real 
Estate Development Co., Ltd, chairman and general manager of Tianjin Jinbin Science and Technology Industrial 
Park Investment Co., Ltd, assistant general manager of Tsinlien Group and Tianjin Development Holdings 
Limited (Stock Code: 0882, Stock Exchange) and secretary of the board of Tianjin Tsinlien Investment Holdings 
Co., Ltd. Currently, he is a teacher at the Business School of Hainan Tropical Ocean University.

Staff Representative Supervisors

Ms. Fan Shuyu (范淑玉), aged 38, graduated from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and 
2004 with a Bachelor of Science degree and a master’s degree in management respectively. She joined Chia 
Tai Group in January 2004 and joined the Company in January 2013. She is now deputy general manager of 
internal audit of the Company’s risk management department.

Ms. Wang Linlin (王琳琳), aged 34, graduated from the Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 2007 
with a bachelor degree (major in law); she also obtained a bachelor degree (major in psychology) from the 
Central China Normal University. Ms. Wang passed the National Judicial Exams of the People’s Republic of 
China (the “PRC”) in 2009, and joined the Company since 2010. She is now the specialist of the Company’s 
risk management department.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Zhang Jian (張艦 ) retired on 20 March 2018. Please refer to page 48 of this report for his brief 
biographical details. 

Mr. Yang Weihong (楊衛紅), aged 49, was appointed as the General Manager on 20 March 2018. He 
graduated from the Department of Computing Mathematics and its Application Software of the Faculty of 
Mathematics of School of Law of Nankai University in July 1990 with a science bachelor degree, and obtained a 
master’s degree in public management from Renmin University of China in 2005 and a master’s degree in law 
(civil law and business law) from Nankai University in 2008. He served as a staff at the planning department 
of Tianjin Dynamic Factory (天津動力機廠計劃處) from July 1990 to October 1992, a clerk at Tianjin Talent 
Exchange and Service Center (天津市人才交流服務中心) from October 1992 to June 1995, and worked at 
the Labor Personnel Bureau of Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Area from June 1995 to 
June 2002, where he held various positions including a clerk at the Employment Agency (職業介紹所), deputy 
director of the General Office (presiding), head of the Labor Protection Supervision Department (勞動保護監
察科), head of the Special Equipment Inspection and Management Station (特種設備檢測管理站), head of the 



ANNUAL REPORT 2017 53

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Social Security Division (社會保障科), etc. From 2002 to March 2018, he worked for TEDA Investment Holding 
Co., Ltd.* (天津泰達投資控股有限公司), and held various positions including deputy manager of the Human 
Resources Department (presiding), the manager, director of the General Office and the secretary of the board 
of directors, etc. Currently, he serves as the General Manager and Secretary of the Party General Branch of the 
Company, the director and a member of the appraisal and remuneration committee of the board of directors 
of TEDA Investment Holding Co., Ltd.* (天津泰達投資控股有限公司), the director of He Guang Trade and 
Business Co., Ltd., and the chairman of Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd., Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., 
Ltd., Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. and Dalian Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. (all being member companies 
of the Group). He also acts as the director of Teda Hong Kong Property Company Limited (泰達香港置業公
司), Binhai Investment (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (濱海投資（天津）有限公司), Tianjin Zhongsha Teda Industrial Park 
Management Co., Ltd. (天津中沙泰達工業園區管理有限公司) and Tianjin Teda Football Club Co., Ltd (天津泰達
足球俱樂部有限公司), and the supervisor of Tianjin Teda Landscape Group Co., Ltd. (天津泰達綠化集團有限公司). 

Mr. Li Yangqian (李仰乾), aged 51, graduated from Graduate School of Tianjin University with a master’s 
degree in science of metallic materials and engineering in 1991. From 1991 to 1995, he worked as the 
workshop technical supervisor of Tianjin Cool Rolled Plate (天津市冷軋薄板廠). From 1995 to 1998, he was the 
manager of Tianjin branch, Avon Products (China) Co., Ltd.. From 1998 to 2001, he was the marketing director 
of Tianjin Donghai Gas Engineering Co., Ltd. (天津東海燃氣工程有限公司). From 2001 to 2003, he was a 
regional manager of Tianjin Otis Elevator Co., Ltd. (中奧集團天津奧的斯電梯有限公司). From 2003 to 2006, he 
was the deputy general manager of Tianjin Binhai Shisheng Trade Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (天津濱海世盛商
貿投資集團有限公司). He served as the general manager of Tianjin Port International Automobile Logistics Co., 
Ltd. (天津港國際汽車物流有限公司), deputy general manager of Tianjin Port Gangwan International Automobile 
Logistics Co., Ltd., deputy general manager of Tianjin Tianxin Automobile Inspection Services Co., Ltd. (天津
天鑫機動車檢測服務有限公司) and executive deputy general manager of Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd.. 
Mr. Li is currently the vice president and the general manager of the Business Development Department of the 
Company, director of Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Tianxin Automobile Inspection Services Co., 
Ltd., vice chairman of Tianjin Port Gangwan International Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd., and chairman and 
general manager of Tianjin Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd. and TEDA General Bonded Warehouse Co., 
Ltd..

Mr. Tang Zhizhong (唐志忠), aged 48, graduated from the Department of Industrial Management of Tianjin 
University of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in economics in 1991 and obtained the master’s 
degree in international shipping and transport logistics from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. From 
1991 to 1994, he served with Tianjin Municipal Bureau of Labor and Social Security as a clerk. From 1994 
to 2002, he was the associate chief officer, chief officer, chief and vice investigator of the Work Committee 
of Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Zone and Free Trade Zone of the Communist Party of 
China. From 2002 to 2005, he was a vice investigator of the Administrative Committee of Tianjin Economic 
and Technological Development Zone. From 2005 to 2012, he served as head of the business management 
department, assistant to the general manager and executive deputy general manager of Tianjin Fengtian 
Logistics Co., Ltd.. From May 2012 to March 2017, he served as the general manager of the comprehensive 
management department of Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited. Mr. Tang is currently the 
vice president of the Company and the director of Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics Co., Ltd. and Dalian Alps Teda 
Logistics Co., Ltd.

Mr. Yu Fukang (俞富康), aged 46, graduated from the Accounting Department of Tianjin University of Finance 
and Economics (天津財經學院會計專業) and is a senior accountant. He was finance manager of Tianjin Feiyan 
Garment Co., Ltd. (天津飛燕製衣有限公司) from 1997 to 2003 and manager of finance department of Tianjin 
Anzhong Electronics Co., Ltd. (天津安中電子有限公司) from 2003 to 2007. After joining the Group in 2007, 
he served as finance manager of Tianjin Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd., as well as accounting officer and 
deputy general manager of the Company’s finance department successively. He is currently vice president and 
general manager of finance department of the Group, director of TEDA General Bonded Warehouse Co., Ltd., 
Tianjin Yuan Da Xian Dai Logistics Co., Ltd. and He Guang Trade and Business Co., Ltd., chairman of Tianjin 
TEDA International Freight Forwarding Co., Ltd., vice chairman of Tianjin Ferroalloy Exchange Co., Ltd. and 
supervisor of Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd..
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31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street
Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

TIANJIN BINHAI TEDA LOGISTICS (GROUP) CORPORATION LIMITED

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation 

Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 134, which 

comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in 

compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has trade receivables of approximately 

RMB659,549,000, which const i tute 25% of the 

Group’s tota l assets . Management judgement 

i s r equ i r ed i n a s s e s s i ng and de te rm in ing the 

recoverability of trade receivables and adequacy of 

allowance made.

The judgement mainly inc ludes est imat ing and 

evaluating expected future receipts from customers 

based on past payment trend, age of the debtors, 

knowledge of the customers’ businesses and financial 

condition.

Ou r p rocedu re s i n r e l a t i on to management ’ s 

impairment assessment of trade receivables included:

•	 Discussing the Group’s procedures on credit 

limits and credit periods given to customers 

with the management;

•	 Evaluating the management’s impairment 

assessment of trade receivables;

•	 Assessing, validating and discussing with the 

management and evaluating their assessment 

on the recoverability of the outstanding debts 

and the adequacy of allowance made based on 

the trade receivables ageing analysis, collections 

subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, 

past collection history and trend analysis and 

knowledge of the businesses; and

•	 Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy 

and relevance of information included in the 

impairment assessment of trade receivables.

We found that the management conclusion to be 

consistent with the available information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 

Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 

includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not 

assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 

to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui

Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 20 March 2018
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2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Revenue 6 2,397,084 2,772,369

Cost of sales (2,292,028) (2,682,819)
    

Gross profit 105,056 89,550

Administrative expenses (54,066) (58,536)

Other income/(loss) – net 7 8,309 15,327
    

Operating profit 59,299 46,341

Finance costs 10 (17,631) (10,427)

Share of results of investments accounted for  

using the equity method 11b 17,934 31,789
    

Profit before income tax 8 59,602 67,703

Income tax expense 12 (15,651) (10,067)
    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 43,951 57,636
    

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 22,732 43,383

Non-controlling interests 21,219 14,253
    

43,951 57,636
    

Earnings per share (RMB cents)

– Basic and diluted 13 6 12
    

Dividends 28 – 10,629
    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Land use rights 14 91,389 93,976

Property, plant and equipment 15 169,845 183,492

Investment properties 16 66,120 70,564

Investments accounted for using the equity method 11b 249,228 253,794

Available-for-sale financial assets 11c 16,310 16,310
    

592,892 618,136
    

Current assets

Inventories 18 25,138 54,863

Trade and other receivables 19 1,296,687 1,375,227

Pledged bank deposits 20 165,337 144,423

Cash and cash equivalents 20 552,990 327,598
    

2,040,152 1,902,111
    

Total assets 2,633,044 2,520,247
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the company

Share capital 21 354,312 354,312

Other reserves 22 100,662 97,564

Retained earnings 23 396,206 387,156
    

851,180 839,032
    

Non-controlling interests 103,280 94,493
    

Total equity 954,460 933,525
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income 26 5,531 5,887

Obligations under finance lease 27 52,336 56,875
    

57,867 62,762
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 1,244,900 1,293,547

Current income tax liabilities 8,886 6,246

Borrowings 25 319,995 193,834

Obligations under finance lease 27 46,936 30,333
    

1,620,717 1,523,960
    

Total liabilities 1,678,584 1,586,722
    

Total equity and liabilities 2,633,044 2,520,247
    

Net current assets 419,435 378,151
    

Total assets less current liabilities 1,012,327 996,287
    

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 

20 March 2018 and were signed on its behalf.

Zhang Wang Tse, Theresa YY
Director Director
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Other Non-

Share reserves Retained controlling Total

capital (Note 22) earnings Total interests equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Balance at 1 January 2016 354,312 94,091 357,916 806,319 84,857 891,176

Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – 43,383 43,383 14,253 57,636

Transfer from retained earnings – 3,473 (3,473) – – –

Dividends paid – – (10,670) (10,670) (4,617) (15,287)
       

Balance at 31 December 2016  

and 1 January 2017 354,312 97,564 387,156 839,032 94,493 933,525

Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – 22,732 22,732 21,219 43,951

Transfer from retained earnings – 3,098 (3,098) – – –

Dividends paid – – (10,584) (10,584) (12,432) (23,016)
       

Balance at 31 December 2017 354,312 100,662 396,206 851,180 103,280 954,460
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2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 30 140,275 (152,592)

Interest received 3,962 6,274

Interest paid (17,631) (10,427)

Income tax paid (13,011) (14,895)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 113,595 (171,640)
    

Cash flows from investing activities

(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits (20,914) 71,660

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,589) (3,582)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 591 1,205

Dividends received from investments accounted for the using 

equity method 22,500 19,371
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (3,412) 88,654
    

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 352,321 238,316

Repayments of borrowings (226,160) (115,003)

Proceeds from loan arrangement 55,000 91,000

Repayment of obligations under finance lease (42,936) (3,792)

Dividends paid to owners of the Company (10,584) (10,670)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (12,432) (4,617)
    

Net cash generated from financing activities 115,209 195,234
    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 225,392 112,248

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 327,598 215,350
    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 552,990 327,598
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together 

“the Group”) are principally engaged in provision of logistics and supply chain solutions services and 

trading and related logistics services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company was established as an investment holding company in the PRC by its promoters, Tianjin 

Teda Investment Holding Co., Ltd. (天津泰達投資控股有限公司) (“TEDA Holding”) and Tianjin Economic 

and Technological Development Area State Asset Operation Company (天津經濟技術開發區國有資產經
營公司) (“TEDA Asset Company”) as a joint stock limited company on 26 June 2006. Both TEDA Holding 

and TEDA Asset Company are controlled by Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Area 

Administrative Commission (“TEDA Administrative Commission”).

Pursuant to the Group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) in preparation for the listing of the 

Company’s overseas listed foreign shares (“H shares”) on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company became the holding company of the Group in June 2006. 

The Company’s H shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 30 April 2008.

On 18 November 2011, TEDA Holding entered into a share transfer agreement with Chia Tai Land 

Company Limited (“Chia Tai Company”), while TEDA Asset Company entered into a share transfer 

agreement with Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Chia Tai Pharmaceutical 

Company”). Accordingly, TEDA Holding and TEDA Asset Company agreed to transfer 28,344,960 

(8% of ordinary shares) and 77,303,789 (21.82% of ordinary shares) domestic shares of the 

Company to Chia Tai Company and Chia Tai Pharmaceutical Company respectively. In 2012, the two 

aforementioned domestic share transfers were approved by the relevant state-owned assets supervision 

and administration authorities of the PRC. The registration procedures of the related transfers have been 

completed on 7 June 2013.

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors of the Company consider TEDA Holding as the immediate 

holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) unless otherwise stated. These financial 

statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2018.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 65

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)	 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which is a collective term that includes all applicable 

individual IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations promulgated by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and accounting principles generally 

accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial statements also comply with the 

applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the 

Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early 

adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(d) provides 

information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application relevant to the 

Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b)	 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 

financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each 

reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based 

on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 

the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account when pricing the asset or 

liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 

consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment 

transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of 

IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as 

net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 

1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 

and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are 

described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional 

currency”). The Group’s principal operations are conducted in the PRC. The consolidated financial 

statements have been presented in RMB, which is the Group’s functional and presentation 

currency.

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatory effective for the current year

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to IFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 

Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has 

had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and 

prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments 

require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 

changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 

In addition, the amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash 

flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will be, included in cash flows from 

financing activities.

The Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities consist of obligations under finance leases 

(note 27) and borrowings (note 25).

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided in note 

31. Consistent with the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed 

comparative information for the prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 31, 

the application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatory effective for the current year (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments 

clarify how an entity should evaluate whether there will be sufficient future taxable profits against 

which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements as the Group already assesses the sufficiency of future taxable profits in way that is 

consistent with these amendments.

Annual Improvement to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

The Group has applied the amendments to IFRS 12 included in the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

2014 – 2016 Cycle for the first time in the current year. The other amendments included in this 

package are not yet mandatorily effective and they have not been early adopted by the Group.

IFRS 12 states that an entity need not provide summarised financial information for interests in 

subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that are classified (or included in a disposal group that 

is classified) as held for sale. The amendments clarify that this is the only concession from the 

disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 for such interests.

The application of these amendments has had no effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements as none of the Group’s interests in these entities are classified, or included in a 

disposal group that is classified, as held for sale.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but 

are not yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related 

Amendments1

IFRS 16 Leases2

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts4

IFRIC – Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

IFRIC – Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 

Transactions1

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts1

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to IAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 

Cycle1

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015 – 2017 Cycle2

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs and interpretations mentioned below, the directors 

of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs and 

interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the 

foreseeable future.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, 

financial liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•	 all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be 

subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that 

are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 

and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of 

subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 

assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 

are generally measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All 

other financial assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent accounting periods. 

In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent 

changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other 

comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

•	 With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial 

liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other 

comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s 

credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch 

in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the 

financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 

39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as 

fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Key requirements of IFRS 9: (Continued)

•	 In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss 

model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit 

loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those 

expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 

recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 

before credit losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting. 

However, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 

accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments 

and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In 

addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic 

relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. 

Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been 

introduced.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management policies as at 31 December 

2017, the directors of the Company anticipate the following potential impact on initial application 

of IFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

Unlisted shares classified as available-for-sale financial assets carried at fair value as disclosed in 

note 11c, these shares qualify for designation as measured at FVTOCI under IFRS 9; however, 

the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve will no longer 

be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss under IFRS 9, which is different from the current 

treatment. This will affect the amounts recognised in the Group’s profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income but will not affect total comprehensive income.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be measured on the same bases 

as is currently adopted under IAS39.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the expected credit 

loss model of IFRS 9 will result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in 

relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised costs and other items that subject 

to the impairment provisions upon application of IFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if the expected credit loss model were 

to be applied by the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss to be recognised by 

Group as at 1 January 2018 would be slightly increased as compared to the accumulated amount 

recognised under IAS 39 mainly attributable to expected credit losses provision on rental and 

other receivables and fixed deposits with financial institutions. Such further impairment recognised 

under expected credit loss model would reduce the opening retained profits at 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 ” Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in 

accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current 

revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and 

the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer 

of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the 

Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

•	 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•	 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 3: Determine the transaction price

•	 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, 

i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is 

transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal 

with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 15 ” Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Continued)

In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance 

obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

During the year, the Group performed a preliminary assessment on the impact of the adoption 

of IFRS 15 which is subject to changes arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. Contract 

that contains two or more performance obligations would be accounted for separately and this 

might have an impact on the pattern of revenue and profit recognition. The Group also expects a 

change in presentation to show refund liability separately from the asset recoverable for estimated 

sales returns.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and 

accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede IAS 17 “Leases” and 

the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is 

controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for 

lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 

liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of 

low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject 

to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any 

remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value 

of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted 

for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. 

Upon application of IFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a 

principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows 

respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 

requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating 

lease or a finance lease.

As set out in note 32, total operating lease commitment of the Group in respect of its buildings 

and motor vehicles as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was amounting to approximately 

RMB5,683,000 and RMB4,017,000, respectively. The directors of the Company do not expect the 

adoption of IFRS 16 as compared with the current accounting policy would result in a significant 

impact on the Group’s results at this stage but it is expect certain portion of these lease 

commitments will be required to be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 

are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 

consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

(a)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 

entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is 

achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 

that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power 

over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct 

the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient 

to give it power, including:

•	 the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 

holdings of the other vote holders;

•	 potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, 

the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be 

made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 

ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 

subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the 

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(a)	 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 

of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries 

is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this 

results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(b)	 Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is 

the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 

control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 

arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 

about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 

consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 

investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 

in accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint 

venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 

adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a 

joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any 

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate 

or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses 

are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from 

the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the 

investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is 

recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any 

excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over 

the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the 

period in which the investment is acquired.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(b)	 Investment in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any 

impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for 

impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its 

recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying 

amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. 

Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that 

the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases 

to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When 

the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is 

a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair 

value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference 

between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity method 

was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing 

of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or 

loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture 

on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed 

of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on 

the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity 

to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an 

investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an 

associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group 

continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the 

gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that 

reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the 

disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and 

losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint 

venture that are not related to the Group.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(c)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 

to the chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s senior management 

that makes strategic decisions.

(d)	 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 

other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of 

exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 

monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 

date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 

they arise except for:

•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction 

for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are 

regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign 

currency risks; and

•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation 

for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of 

the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other 

comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the 

monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 

Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (RMB) 

using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items 

are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 

are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 

operation, a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 

or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a 

foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange 

differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the 

Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(d)	 Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation 

that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share 

of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 

recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or 

joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), 

the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through 

acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation 

and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange 

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(e)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of 

goods or services, or for administrative purposes other than construction in progress are stated 

at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 

to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on 

qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 

flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 

incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, the depreciation rate 

per annum is as follows:

Buildings 3.17%-4.5%

Machinery 9%-18%

Furniture and office equipment 18%-19%

Motor vehicles 9%-19%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 

of each reporting period.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(e)	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 

carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 5).

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of construction incurred of property, plant 

and equipment less any impairment losses. No provision for depreciation is made on construction 

in progress until such time the relevant assets are completed and put into use. Construction 

in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when 

completed and ready for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 

amount and are recognised within ‘Other gains/(losses) – net’ in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(f)	 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising buildings and properties, is held for long-term rental 

yields and that is not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, 

including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition, 

investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 

Amortisation of investment property is calculated to write-off that cost, less estimated net residual 

value and accumulated impairment losses, if any, on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives ranging from 20 to 30 years.

(g)	 Land use rights

Land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments for land less accumulated 

amortisations and any impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method 

to allocate the prepaid operating lease payments for and over the remaining lease term.

(h)	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 

are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 

than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(h)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value 

through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial 

assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 

financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases 

or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 

purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument 

and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received 

that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 

or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter 

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, 

pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 

receivables where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end 

of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective 

evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 

financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(h)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; 

or

•	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for 

impairment on a collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. 

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 

experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio 

past, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 

default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss 

recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 

financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it 

is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 

off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 

account are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(h)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment 

is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 

been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 

after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at 

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, borrowings and obligations under finance 

lease are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid 

or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, 

a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis other than financial liabilities 

classified as at fair value though profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(h)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when 

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if 

not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

•	 the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

•	 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised 

in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

(i)	 Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the Reporting Period, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 

flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(j)	 Inventories

Inventories which consist of cargos are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 

is determined using actual cost. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

(k)	 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, 

deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities 

of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated and entity statement of financial 

position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(l)	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of 

new ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the 

consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is 

deducted from equity attributable to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled or 

reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net 

of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is 

included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity owners.

(m)	 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 

costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period 

of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan 

facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that is probable that some 

or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down 

occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 

drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the 

period of the facility to which it relates. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 

the end of the Reporting Period.

(n)	 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 

production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 

to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time 

as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 

expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(o)	 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Company if:

(i)	 A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that 

person:

(a)	 has control or joint control over the Company;

(b)	 has significant influence over the Company; or

(c)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of 

the Company.

(ii)	 An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(a)	 the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that 

each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(b)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 

joint venture of a member of the group of which the other entity is a member);

(c)	 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(d)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 

the third entity;

(e)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 

the Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a 

plan, the sponsorship employees are also related to the Company;

(f)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i);

(g)	 A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 

of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(h)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 

management personnel services to the group or to the group’s parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources 

or obligations between related parties.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(p)	 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates 

to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is 

also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)	 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company’s 

subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 

regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the 

basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(ii)	 Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences 

arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 

consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised 

if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not 

accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 

other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 

(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date and are 

expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income 

tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled 

by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group 

the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising 

from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that 

it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient 

taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(p)	 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(iii)	 Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 

right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred 

income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 

intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

(q)	 Employee benefits

Payments to a state-managed retirement benefit scheme are dealt with as payment to defined 

contribution plan which are charged as an expense when employees have rendered service 

entitling them to contribution.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 

provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of 

leave.

(r)	 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 

assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that 

they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 

liabilities as deferred income and are credited to the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(s)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents 

amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts returns and value added taxes. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it 

is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have 

been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The Group bases its estimates of 

return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction 

and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i)	 Sales of goods

Sales of raw materials are recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed.

(ii)	 Sales of services

Revenue from rendering of logistics services for finished vehicles, supply chain management 

for automobile components and parts, warehousing services and related logistics services 

for steel trading are recognised upon the completion of services due to the short duration 

of the service period.

For sales of services, revenue is recognised in accounting period in which the services 

rendered, by reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction and assessed on 

the basis of actual services provided as a proportion of the total service to be provided.

(iii)	 Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 

period of the lease.

(iv)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and 

receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, 

being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of 

the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income 

on impaired loan and receivables are recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(t)	 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of 

the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods 

so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in 

respect of the leases.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

(t)	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 

added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value 

at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial 

position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation 

so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 

expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to 

qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy 

on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in 

the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 

operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 

recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 

expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of 

the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

(u)	 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s 

and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 

Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

(v)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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4.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and other receivables, bank 

balances and cash, trade and other payables, borrowings and obligations under finance lease. 

The risks associated with these financial assets and liabilities include market risk (interest rate risk 

and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks 

are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a)	 Market risks

(i)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk 

arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to RMB, United 

States dollars (“USD”) and Australia dollars (“AUD”). Foreign exchange risk arises 

from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 

investments in foreign operations. The management do not expect the net foreign 

currency risk from these activities to be significant and hence, the Group do not 

presently hedge the foreign exchange risks. The Group periodically review liquid 

assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the functional currencies of 

the respective subsidiaries to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and will 

consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2017, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the 

USD with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 

been RMB587,000 (2016: RMB60,000) higher/lower.
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4.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.1	 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)	 Market risks (Continued)

(ii)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the impact of rate 

changes on interest bearing financial assets and liabilities, mainly bank balances 

and cash and bank borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings 

at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The 

Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to 

interest rate risk. However, management will consider hedging significant interest 

rate risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based on the exposure to interest 

rates for interest bearing bank balances and variable-rate bank borrowings at the 

reporting date and on the assumption that the amount of assets and liabilities 

outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates on bank balances and variable-rate bank borrowings had been 100 

basis points (2016: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were held 

constant, post-tax profit for the year will increase/decrease by about RMB3,000,000 

(2016: RMB2,100,000).

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted procedures in monitoring 

its credit risk.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s exposure to credit risk relates mainly to:

–	 the carrying amount of the trade and other receivables and cash and cash 

equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

–	 the financial guarantees provided by the Group as disclosed in Note 33.

The Group’s current credit practices include assessment and evaluation of customer’s 

credit reliability and periodic review of their financial status to determine credit limit to be 

granted. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties 

fail to perform their obligations as at end of the financial year in relation to each class 

of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.1	 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the ten largest debtors accounted for approximately 

89% and 91% of the Group’s total trade receivables respectively. In order to minimise the 

credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination 

the credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures on customers to ensure 

that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the recoverable 

amounts of each individual trade debt at each reporting date to ensure that adequate 

impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The directors of the Company 

consider that the Group’s credit risk is adequately managed.

The credit risk on bank balances and cash is limited because majority of the counterparties 

are state-owned banks with good reputation or banks with high credit rating.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Maximum exposure

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Credit risk exposure relating to off-balance  

sheet items

– Financial guarantees 104,712 124,364
   

At 31 December 104,712 124,364
   

(c)	 Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of 

cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow. The management monitors 

the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial 

liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 

financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required to pay. The 

tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
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4.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.1	 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group

Weighted

average

interest 

rate

Less than

3 months

Over

3 months

but not

more than

6 months

Over

6 months

but not

more than

1 year

Over

1 year

Total

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2017

Trade and other payables 521,319 381,938 68,246 – 971,503 971,503

Borrowings 4.721% 113,239 181,658 30,566 – 325,463 319,995

Obligations under finance lease 5.225% 13,413 13,313 26,349 55,231 108,306 99,272

Financial guarantees 5,995 20,051 26,275 52,391 104,712 –        

653,966 596,960 151,436 107,622 1,509,984 1,390,770

Weighted

average

interest 

rate

Less than

3 months

Over

3 months

but not

more than

6 months

Over

6 months

but not

more than

1 year

Over

1 year

Total

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2016

Trade and other payables 578,755 340,377 – – 919,132 919,132

Borrowings 4.420% 75,727 80,824 40,703 – 197,254 193,834

Obligations under finance lease 5.225% 8,730 8,628 16,989 60,083 94,430 87,208

Financial guarantees 2,848 16,849 19,697 84,970 124,364 –

666,060 446,678 77,389 145,053 1,335,180 1,200,174        
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4.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2	 Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue 

as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the 

debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the 

directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 

recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 

payment of dividends, new share issues as well as bank borrowings.

The Group monitors it capital structure on the basis of gearing ratio. The Group’s gearing ratio 

(ratio of borrowings (including borrowings and obligations under finance lease) to total equity) 

is approximately 44% (2016: 30%). There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital 

management during the year.

4.3	 Fair Value estimation

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 

liabilities as recorded in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values at the 

end of the Reporting Period.

5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)	 Allowances for bad and doubtful debts

Management makes assessments on the recoverability of trade and other receivable based on 

objective evidence, taking into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount 

of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 

been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 

interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flow is less than 

expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of 

trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, is about RMB1,296,687,000 (2016: 

RMB1,375,227,000).
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(b)	 Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required 

in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 

calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities 

for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 

such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the 

period in which such determination is made.

(c)	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for an asset at the end of 

each reporting period. The asset is tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 

carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, an 

estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the asset is allocated will be 

required. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected 

future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A change in the estimated future cash 

flows and/or the discount rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment 

provision previously made.

(d)	 Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an item of property, plant and equipment, 

the Group gas to consider various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising 

from changes or improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand for the 

product or service output of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and 

tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. 

The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group with similar 

assets that are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful 

lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different from the 

previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of the Reporting 

Period based on changes in circumstances.

(e)	 Impairment of inventories

The Group makes provision for inventories based on an assessment of the net realisable value 

of inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification of 

slow-moving stock and obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on the 

conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(f)	 Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale equity 

investment is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this 

judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair 

value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and short-term business 

outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in 

technology and operational and financing cash flow.

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group reports two operating segments; these are managed independently by the responsible 

segment management bodies in line with the products and services offered and the distribution channels 

and customer profiles involved. Components of entity are defined as segments on the basis of the 

existence of segment managers with revenue and segment results (profit before income tax less interest 

income, finance cost and corporate expenses) responsibility who report directly to the Group’s senior 

management who make strategic decisions.

Principal activities of the Group’s two reportable segments are as follows:

Logistics and supply chain service for finished automobiles and components – Provision of logistics 

services and supply chain management, i.e. planning, storage and transportation management for 

finished automobile and components;

Materials procurement and related logistics services – Sales of raw materials to customers comprising 

principally trading companies and provision of related services of transportation management, storage, 

warehouse supervising and management.

The investments accounted for using the equity method mainly carry out provision of logistics services, 

supply chain management; and provision of cold warehouse operating and logistic services.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017
 

Logistics 

and supply 

chain service

for finished

automobiles

and

components

Materials 

procurement 

and related

logistics

services

Reportable 

segments

subtotal

All other 

segments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Revenue 997,918 1,348,408 2,346,326 63,498 2,409,824

Inter-segment revenue – (5,570) (5,570) (7,170) (12,740)      

Revenue from external  

customers 997,918 1,342,838 2,340,756 56,328 2,397,084

Segment results 55,949 (4,520) 51,429 8,038 59,467
      

Share of results of investments 

accounted for using  

the equity method 17,934

Unallocated other income 3,962

Unallocated corporate  

expenses (4,130)

Finance costs (17,631)      

Profit before income tax 59,602

Income tax expense (15,651)      

Profit for the year 43,951
      

Other information:

Depreciation and amortisation (10,872) (341) (11,213) (13,373) (24,586)

Income tax expense (15,568) 68 (15,500) (151) (15,651)
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016     

Logistics 

and supply 

chain service

for finished

automobiles

and

components

Materials 

procurement 

and related

logistics

services

Reportable 

segments

subtotal

All other 

segments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Revenue 883,152 1,884,370 2,767,522 80,543 2,848,065

Inter-segment revenue – (66,302) (66,302) (9,394) (75,696)      

Revenue from external 

customers 883,152 1,818,068 2,701,220 71,149 2,772,369

Segment results 31,376 6,009 37,385 7,343 44,728      

Share of results of investments 

accounted for using the equity 

method 31,789

Unallocated other income 6,274

Unallocated corporate expenses (4,661)

Finance costs (10,427)      

Profit before income tax 67,703

Income tax expense (10,067)      

Profit for the year 57,636      

Other information:

Depreciation and amortisation (12,930) (467) (13,397) (14,767) (28,164)

Income tax expense (9,918) (157) (10,075) 8 (10,067)      

Sales between segments are carried out based on mutually agreed price. The revenue from external 

parties reported to the senior management is measured in a manner consistent with that in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Total segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are not regularly provided to and reviewed 

by the Group’s senior management.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

Over 90% of the Group’s operations and non-current assets are located in the PRC, and over 90% 

of the Group’s revenue of the external customers is attributed to the PRC. Therefore, no analyses of 

geographical segment is presented for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Information about major customer

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Customer A 837,454 736,671

Customer B 291,602 321,954

Customer C (note) – 281,946
   

Note:	 No information on turnover for the current year is disclosed for this customer since it contributed less than 
10% to the Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2017.

7.	 OTHER INCOME/(LOSS) – NET

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Government grant (note) 5,431 8,540

Interest income from bank deposits 3,962 6,274

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gains (103) 818

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,090) (286)

Others 109 (19)
   

8,309 15,327
   

Note:	 Government grant represents subsidies and awards from local government authorities for the Group’s 
contribution to the development of the local economies.
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8.	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Auditors’ remuneration 1,760 1,760

Cost of materials purchased 1,337,863 1,806,906

Subcontracting charges 705,158 628,728

Employee benefits expenses (Note 9) 144,272 152,504

Depreciation 21,999 25,577

Transportation 10,118 14,354

Fuel 10,385 8,919

Operating lease charges 3,016 2,406

Business tax 5,134 2,340

Amortisation 2,587 2,587

Others 103,802 95,274
   

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 2,346,094 2,741,355
   

9.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Wages and salaries 97,315 101,625

Employer’s contribution to pension scheme 42,120 45,340

Others 4,837 5,539
   

Total employee benefit expense 144,272 152,504
   

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Directors’ fee 595 632

Other emoluments:

– Salaries and allowances 994 993

– Performance related bonuses – –

– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 59 56
   

1,648 1,681
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9.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2017 

is set our below:

Directors

Fees

Salaries

and

allowances

Performance

related

bonus

Retirement

benefit

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

The Chief executive and director:

Zhang Jian (Note d) – 994 – 59 1,053

Non-executive directors:

Tse Ping (resigned on 12/5/2017) 18 – – – 18

Yang Xiaoping 50 – – – 50

Cui Xuesong 50 – – – 50

Zhang Wang (appointed on 11/11/2016) 

(Note e) 50 – – – 50

Tse, Theresa YY  

(appointed on 12/5/2017) 32 – – – 32

Independent non-executive directors:

Japhet Sebastian Law 150 – – – 150

Cheng Xinsheng 150 – – – 150

Zhou Zisheng – – – – –

Chia Pun Kok (appointed on 12/5/2017) 95 – – – 95      

595 994 – 59 1,648      
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9.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2016 

is set our below:

Directors

Fees

Salaries

and

allowances

Performance

related

bonus

Retirement

benefit

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

The Chief executive and director:

Zhang Jian (Note d) – 993 – 56 1,049

Non-executive directors:

Tse Ping (resigned on 12/5/2017) 50 – – – 50

Yang Xiaoping 50 – – – 50

Xu Lifan (resigned on 11/11/2016) 38 – – – 38

Cui Xuesong 50 – – – 50

Zhang Wang (appointed on 11/11/2016) 

(Note e) 13 – – – 13

Independent non-executive directors:

Japhet Sebastian Law 150 – – – 150

Cheng Xinsheng 150 – – – 150

Mei Xingbao (resigned on 14/11/2016) 131 – – – 131

Zhou Zisheng – – – – –      

632 993 – 56 1,681      

(b)	 The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2017 include one (2016: one) director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis 

presented above. The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2016: four) individuals during 

the year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Employees

– salaries and allowances 2,871 3,571

– performance related bonus – –

– retirement benefit scheme contribution 122 219
   

2,993 3,790
   



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited102

9.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

(c)	 No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an 

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the 

directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in the year ended 31 December 2017.

(d)	 Zhang Jian is the chief executive and also the executive director of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2017. He is resigned on 20 March 2018.

(e)	 Zhang Wang is re-designated from non-executive director to executive director and Chairman on 

20 March 2018.

(f)	 The emoluments of the Group’s senior management fell within the followings bands:

Number of individuals

2017 2016
   

Emolument bands

Approximately HK$380,000 – HK$1,000,000 4 1

Approximately HK$1,000,001 – HK$2,000,000 – 3
   

10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Interest on borrowings wholly repayable within five years 9,527 8,425

Interest on discounted bill receivables – 1,394

Interest on finance lease 8,104 608
   

17,631 10,427
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11a.	INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a)	 Subsidiaries

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017:

Name of

Company

Place of Incorporation

and kind of

legal entity Principal activities

Registered

capital

Proportion of

ordinary shares

directly held

by parent

(%)

Proportion of

ordinary shares

held by

the Group

(%)

Proportion of

ordinary shares

held by

non-controlling

interests

(%)       

Tianjin Fengtian Logistics 

Co., Ltd. (“TFL”)

China, limited liability  

company

Transportation of  

finished vehicles and  

supply chain  

management services

USD8,645,600 52% 52% 48%

TEDA General Warehouse  

Co., Ltd.

China, limited liability  

company

Warehouse operations  

and logistic services

RMB80,000,000 100% 100% –

Tianjin Yuan Da Xian Dai 

Logistics Co., Ltd.

China, limited liability  

company

Logistic services RMB20,000,000 100% 100% –

He Guang Trade and  

Business Co., Ltd. 

(“He Guang”)

Hong Kong, limited  

liability company

International trading HK$100,000 100% 100% –

Tianjin TEDA Freight 

Forwarding Co., Ltd.

China, limited liability  

company

International 

transportation  

agency services

RMB5,000,000 51% 51% 49%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Tianjin Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited104

11a.	INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)	 Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interest as at 31 December 2017 is approximately RMB103,280,000 (2016: 

RMB94,493,000) of which approximately RMB102,534,000 (2016: RMB93,323,000) is for TFL. 

The non-controlling interests in respect of Tianjin TEDA International Freight Forwarding Co., Ltd. 

is not material.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that are 

material to the Group

Set out below are the summarised financial information for TFL.

Summarised statement of financial position

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current

Assets 379,206 251,200

Liabilities (234,869) (135,229)
   

Net current assets 144,337 115,971
   

Non-current assets 69,276 78,452
   

Net assets 213,613 194,423
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11a.	INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)	 Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that are 

material to the Group (Continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Revenue 991,312 881,108
   

Profit before income tax 60,658 38,739

Income tax expense (15,568) (9,918)
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 45,090 28,821
   

Total comprehensive income allocated to  

non-controlling interests 21,643 13,834

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 12,432 4,617
   

Summarised statement of cash flows

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 207,424 80,626

Income tax paid (14,364) (9,122)
   

Net cash generated from operating activities 193,060 71,504

Net cash used in investing activities (2,358) (602)

Net cash used in financing activities (25,900) (9,619)
   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 164,802 61,283

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 101,113 39,830
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 265,915 101,113
   

The information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2017 2016

The Group RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Associates 35,923 29,162

Joint ventures 213,305 224,632
   

At 31 December 249,228 253,794
   

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

are as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Associates 7,661 6,362

Joint ventures 10,273 25,427
   

For the year ended 31 December 17,934 31,789
   

(a)	 Investment in associates

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At 1 January 29,162 26,571

Share of results of associates 7,661 6,362

Dividends received (900) (3,771)
   

At 31 December 35,923 29,162
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(a)	 Investment in associates (Continued)

Set out below are associates of the Group as at 31 December 2017, which, in the opinion of the 

directors, are material to the Group. The associates as listed below have share capital consisting 

solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group; the country of incorporation or 

registration is also their principal place of business.

Nature of investment in associates as at 31 December 2017

Name of company

Registered

capital

Place of

business/

country of

incorporation

Proportion of 

ordinary shares 

directly held

by parent

Nature of the

relationship

Measurement

method

(%)      

Directly held:

Tianjin Port Gangwan  

International  

Automobile  

Logistics Co., Ltd.  

(“Gangwan  

Automobile”)

RMB30,000,000 China 40% Carrying out the Group’s 

automobile storage  

and related services

Equity

Tianjin Tianxin  

Automobile  

Inspection Services  

Co., Ltd. (“Tianxin”)

RMB5,000,000 China 30% Carrying out the Group’s  

vehicle inspection  

services

Equity

The associates of the Group are private companies and there are no quoted market prices 

available.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associates.
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(a)	 Investment in associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information for associates

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the associates of the Group which are 

accounted for using the equity method and the share of the profits are material to the Group.

Summarised statement of financial position

Gangwan Automobile Tianxin

2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 66,442 47,956 24,889 21,890

Other current assets 1,082 1,845 547 3,654
     

Total current assets 67,524 49,801 25,436 25,544

Current liabilities (6,139) (2,435) (1,473) (3,500)
     

Net current assets 61,385 47,366 23,963 22,044
     

Non-current assets 3,659 4,365 9,053 6,186
     

Net assets 65,044 51,731 33,016 28,230
     

Summariesd statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Gangwan Automobile Tianxin

2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Revenue 83,007 94,946 25,303 19,335

Depreciation and amortisation (793) (620) (1,079) (1,264)

Interest income 740 784 82 16
     

Profit before income tax 17,880 17,152 10,381 5,756

Income tax expense (4,567) (4,484) (2,595) (1,439)
     

Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year 13,313 12,668 7,786 4,317
     

Dividends received from associates – 2,271 900 1,500
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(a)	 Investment in associates (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its 

interest in associates

Summarised financial information

Gangwan Automobile Tianxin

2017 2016 2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Opening net assets at 1 January 51,731 44,741 28,230 28,913
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year 13,313 12,668 7,786 4,317
Dividend – (5,678) (3,000) (5,000)
     

Closing net assets at 31 December 65,044 51,731 33,016 28,230
     

Interest in associates 26,018 20,693 9,905 8,469
     

(b)	 Investment in joint ventures

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At 1 January 224,632 214,805
Share of profits of joint ventures 10,273 25,427
Dividend received (21,600) (15,600)

   

At 31 December 213,305 224,632
   

Nature of investment in joint ventures as at 31 December 2017

Name of company
Registered 

capital

Place of
business/
country of 
incorporation

% of 
ownership

interest
Nature of the
relationship

Measurement
method      

Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics  
Co., Ltd. (“Tedahang”) 
(note)

RMB200,000,000 China 60% Carrying out the cold warehouse  
operating and logistic services

Equity

Tianjin Alps Teda Logistics  
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Alps”)

USD6,240,000 China 50% Carrying out the supplying chain 
management services

Equity

Dalian Alps Teda Logistics  
Co., Ltd. (“Dalian Alps”)

USD2,400,000 China 50% Carrying out the material 
procurement logistics and supply 
chain management services

Equity

The joint ventures of the Group are private companies and there is no quoted market price 

available.
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(b)	 Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

Nature of investment in joint ventures as at 31 December 2017 (Continued)
Note:

The Group holds 60% of the registered capital of Tedahang, and controls 60% of the voting power in the 
general meetings. However, under the shareholders’ agreement, the major financing and operational decision 
of Tedahang should be unanimously approved by the Group and other ventures. Therefore, Tedahang is 
regarded as a joint venture of the Group.

Summarised financial information for joint ventures

Set out below are the summarised financial information for joint ventures of the Group which is 

accounted for using the equity method:

Summarised statement of financial position

Tedahang Tianjin Alps Dalian Alps

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 5,045 12,972 187,142 161,250 39,986 36,341

Other current assets 53,626 22,058 94,436 120,573 78,899 90,058       

Total current assets 58,671 35,030 281,578 281,823 118,885 126,399       

Borrowings (52,322) (51,440) – – (3,921) (4,162)

Other current liabilities (140,535) (59,252) (63,344) (60,445) (52,373) (61,778)       

Total current liabilities (192,857) (110,692) (63,344) (60,445) (56,294) (65,940)       

Net current (liabilities)/assets (134,186) (75,662) 218,234 221,378 62,591 60,459       

Non-current

Total non-current assets 305,857 319,916 32,698 34,608 9,391 10,044       

Borrowings (52,390) (104,712) (454) (836) – –

Other non-current liabilities (14,724) (18,768) – – – –       

Total non-current liabilities (67,114) (123,480) (454) (836) – –       

Net non-current assets 238,743 196,436 32,244 33,772 9,391 10,044       

Net assets 104,557 120,774 250,478 255,150 71,982 70,503
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(b)	 Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures (Continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Tedahang Tianjin Alps Dalian Alps

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

Revenue 86,882 64,476 531,697 525,914 269,140 264,684       

Depreciation and amortisation (15,273) (15,315) (5,357) (5,387) (1,423) (1,325)

Interest income 72 58 710 1,053 – –

Interest expense (9,686) (9,274) – – (116) (86)       

(Loss)/profit before income tax (16,217) (11,588) 45,857 72,403 7,737 14,221

Income tax expense – – (11,529) (18,195) (2,058) (3,669)       

(Loss)/profit and total 

comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year (16,217) (11,588) 34,328 54,208 5,679 10,552       

Dividends received from joint 

ventures – – 19,500 14,000 2,100 1,600       

The information above reflects the amount presented in the financial statements of the joint 

ventures adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint ventures.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its 

interests in the joint ventures are as follows:
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11b.	INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(b)	 Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures (Continued)

Summarised financial information

Tedahang Tianjin Alps Dalian Alps

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

At 1 January 120,774 132,362 255,150 228,942 70,503 63,151

(Loss)/profit for the year (16,217) (11,588) 34,328 54,208 5,679 10,552

Dividend – – (39,000) (28,000) (4,200) (3,200)       

At 31 December 104,557 120,774 250,478 255,150 71,982 70,503       

Interest in joint ventures 62,734 72,465 125,239 127,575 35,991 35,251

Fair value adjustments on  

land use rights, property,  

plant and equipment (10,659) (10,659) – – – –       

Carrying value 52,075 61,806 125,239 127,575 35,991 35,251       

At the end of reporting period, the jointly controlled entities do not have any outstanding 

contingent liabilities.

11c.	AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Non-current

Unlisted equity investment at cost (note) 16,310 16,310
   

Note:

As at 31 December 2017, the unlisted equity investment was stated at cost less impairment because the range of 
reasonable fair value estimate is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be 
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current tax:

Provision for the year 15,456 10,893

Under-provision/(over-provision) in prior years 195 (826)
   

PRC Enterprise Income Tax 15,651 10,067
   

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income Tax rate of the Company and the 

subsidiaries is 25%.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on the estimated 

assessable profit for the year.

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 

using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit before income tax 59,602 67,703   

Tax at the official income tax rate of 25% and 16.5%  

(2016: 25% and 16.5%) 15,016 16,862

Tax effect of:

– Associates’ and joint ventures’ results reported, net of tax (4,484) (7,947)

– Expenses and income not deductible or taxable  

for taxation purpose 847 1,978

– Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 4,077 –

– Under-provision/(over-provision) in respect of prior years 195 (826)   

Income tax expense 15,651 10,067   

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in consolidated 

financial statements as the Group did not have material temporary difference arising between tax bases 

of assets or liabilities and their carrying amounts.
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13.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Earnings

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 22,732 43,383
   

Number of shares (thousands)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating 

basic and diluted earnings per share 354,312 354,312
   

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic 

earnings per share as the Company did not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding 

during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

14.	 LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book 

values are analysed as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At beginning of the year 93,976 96,563

Amortisation charge for the year (2,587) (2,587)
   

At the end of the year 91,389 93,976
   

Note:

All the land use rights of the Group are situated in the PRC and are amortised over their lease periods. As at 31 
December 2017, the land use rights have remaining lease periods ranging from 29 to 40 years (2016: 30 to 41 years).
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings Machinery

Furniture  

and office  

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Construction

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

The Group

Cost

At 1 January 2016 218,670 33,479 27,021 74,172 1,424 354,766

Additions 1,364 471 1,031 716 – 3,582

Transfer 1,424 – – – (1,424) –

Disposals – (1,603) (1,567) (5,763) – (8,933)
       

At 31 December 2016 and  

1 January 2017 221,458 32,347 26,485 69,125 – 349,415

Additions 2,572 132 1,346 298 1,241 5,589

Disposals (74) (5,127) (868) (10,766) – (16,835)
       

At 31 December 2017 223,956 27,352 26,963 58,657 1,241 338,169
       

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016 64,281 24,391 19,592 43,968 – 152,232

Charge for the year 9,655 1,870 1,929 7,679 – 21,133

Disposals – (1,363) (1,295) (4,784) – (7,442)
       

At 31 December 2016 and  

1 January 2017 73,936 24,898 20,226 46,863 – 165,923

Charge for the year 9,805 1,223 982 5,545 – 17,555

Disposals (28) (4,620) (804) (9,702) – (15,154)
       

At 31 December 2017 83,713 21,501 20,404 42,706 – 168,324
       

Net book values

At 31 December 2017 140,243 5,851 6,559 15,951 1,241 169,845
       

At 31 December 2016 147,522 7,449 6,259 22,262 – 183,492
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2017, depreciation expense of approximately RMB15,000,000 (2016: 
RMB17,000,000) has been charged in ‘Cost of sales’ and approximately RMB3,000,000 (2016: RMB4,000,000) in 
‘administrative expenses’.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has lease buildings under finance leases with net book value of approximately 
RMB89,781,000 (2016: RMB83,835,000), machinery under finance leases with net book value of approximately 
RMB1,582,000 (2016: Nil), furniture and office equipment under finance leases with net book value of approximately 
RMB1,268,000 (2016: Nil) and motor vehicles under finance leases with net book value of approximately 
RMB4,027,000 (2016: Nil).

16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At the beginning of the year 70,564 75,008

Depreciation charge for the year (4,444) (4,444)
   

At the end of the year 66,120 70,564
   

Fair value

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and 

maintenance (2016: Nil).

All investment properties of the Group are warehouses located in the PRC.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2017 has been arrived at on the 

basis of a valuation carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional 

valuer not connected to the Group.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was determined based on the income capitalisation 

approach, which involves estimating the rental incomes of the property and capitalising them all on 

appropriate rate to produce a capital value.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use of 

the properties.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has lease investment properties under finance leases with net book 

value of approximately RMB9,521,000 (2016: RMB6,788,000).
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16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value (Continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 

December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Fair value of

investment

properties

Valuation 

technique(s)

and significant

unobservable inputs

Relationship 

of unobservable

inputs to fair value

Fair value

2017 2016 hierarchy

RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Investment 

properties 

in PRC

302,600 286,200 Level 3 Market unit rent, using 

the direct market 

comparables and taking 

into account of location 

and other individual 

factors, of range from 

RMB0.2 sq. m. to  

RMB1.8 sq. m. per day 

(2016: RMB0.2 sq. m. to 

RMB1.7 sq. m. per day).

Assuming that the 

yield stand, the  

increase in the 

market unit rent 

would result in an 

increase in market 

value.

Market yield, taking 

into account of yield 

generated from 

comparable properties 

and adjustment to 

reflect the certainty of 

term income secured 

and to be received of 9% 

(2016: 9.0%).

Assuming that the  

market value stand, 

the increase in the 

reversionary yield  

would result in a 

decrease in fair 

value.
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17.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

By Category

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position

Loans and receivables

– Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayment  

to suppliers 829,271 597,536

– Pledged bank deposits 165,337 144,423

– Cash and cash equivalents 552,990 327,598
   

Total 1,547,598 1,069,557
   

Available-for-sale financial assets 16,310 16,310
   

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of  

financial position

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

– Borrowings 319,995 193,834

– Obligations under finance lease 99,272 87,208

– Trade and other payables, excluding deposits from  

customer and statutory liabilities 971,503 919,132
   

Total 1,390,770 1,200,174
   

18.	 INVENTORIES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Pet resin bottle grade 21,766 –

Iron ore and related materials – 25,641

Frozen meats – 27,755

Others 3,372 1,467
   

25,138 54,863
   

No significant inventory is stated at net realisable value as at 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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19.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade receivables 660,479 566,300

Less: allowance for impairment (930) (930)
   

659,549 565,370

Bills receivables (note (b)) 143,665 1,250
   

803,214 566,620

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 27,427 31,536

Less: allowance for impairment (1,370) (620)
   

829,271 597,536
   

Prepayment to suppliers 468,203 778,478

Less: allowance for impairment (787) (787)
   

Prepayment to suppliers-net 467,416 777,691
   

1,296,687 1,375,227
   

Notes:

(a)	 The balance of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in Renminbi.

(b)	 The bills are non-interest bearing bank acceptance bills with a maximum maturity period of 180 days.

(c)	 The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 90 to 300 days to its trade customers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables before allowances for impairment at the end 
of reporting period:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

0 – 90 days 627,490 367,119
91 – 180 days 119,133 122,327
181 – 365 days 38,666 50,969
Over 365 days 18,855 27,135
   

804,144 567,550
   

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits by customer.
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19.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)	 Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Overdue by:
1 – 90 days 28,413 5,446
Over 90 days 28,781 59,805
   

57,194 65,251
   

The Group have not provided for impairment loss on the above balances as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. In determining the recoverability of the trade 
receivables, the Group monitors any changes in the credit quality of the trade receivables since the credit was 
granted and up to the reporting date.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of independent customers that a good 
trade record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance 
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

(e)	 Allowances on past due trade receivables are made based on estimated irrecoverable amounts by reference 
to past default experience and objective evidences of impairment determined by the difference between the 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimate future cash flow discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.

Movement in impairment loss recognised is as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At the beginning of the year 2,337 2,337
Provision for impairment 750 –
   

At the end of the year 3,087 2,337
   

The individually impaired other receivable relate to debtors that were in financial difficulties and the directors 
in the opinion that the receivables is not to be recovered.
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20.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cash at bank and on hand 552,990 327,598
   

Pledged bank deposits (note (c)) 165,337 144,423
   

Notes:

(a)	 The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
relevant group entities were as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Currency:
– US Dollars 7,712 12,403
– Hong Kong Dollars 491 132
– Australian Dollars 1 1
– Japanese Yen 5 –

   

(b)	 Bank balances carry interest at market rate, the effective interest rates of the bank balances during the year 
are as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Effective interest rate (per annum) 0.35%-1.30% 0.35%-2.05%
   

(c)	 Pledged bank deposits represents pledge to banks to secure bills payable of approximately RMB675,608,000 
(2016: RMB686,441,000) issued by the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 1.30% (2016: ranging from 
1.30% to 2.05%) per annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant 
bills payables.

(d)	 Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the 
exchange restriction imposed by the PRC government. Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on 
daily bank deposits rate.

21.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016

Domestic Domestic

Shares H-shares Total shares H-shares Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

At the beginning and the  

end of the year 256,069 98,243 354,312 256,069 98,243 354,312
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22.	 OTHER RESERVES

Share Statutory Other

premium reserves reserves Total

(Note a) (Note b)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 1 January 2016 55,244 79,461 (40,614) 94,091

Transfer from retained earnings – 3,473 – 3,473
     

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 55,244 82,934 (40,614) 97,564

Transfer from retained earnings – 3,098 – 3,098
     

At 31 December 2017 55,244 86,032 (40,614) 100,662
     

Notes:

(a)	 Statutory reserves

Reserve fund and Enterprise expansion fund

According to the relevant PRC rules and their articles of association, appropriations from net profit should 
be made to the Reserve Fund and the Enterprise Expansion Fund. The percentages to be appropriated to 
the Reserve Fund and Enterprise Expansion Fund are determined by the respective board of directors. Upon 
approval, the Reserve Fund can be used to offset accumulated losses or be converted into capital.

Statutory reserve

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are domestic limited liability companies established under the PRC 
Company Law. According to the relevant PRC rules and their articles of association, statutory surplus reserve 
should be appropriated from net profit of management account under China Accounting Standard before 
distribution. The amount of appropriation should be 10% of profit after taxation, calculated in accordance 
with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, applicable to enterprises in the PRC, of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. The appropriation may cease to apply if the balance of the statutory surplus reserve has 
reached 50% of the entity’s registered capital. Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up prior year 
losses, to expand operation or to increase share capital. The Company or its subsidiaries may capitalise the 
statutory surplus reserve by way of bonus issues provided that the amount of the statutory surplus reserve 
remaining after such appropriation shall not be less than 25% of the registered capital of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

(b)	 Other reserves

Other reserves as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 represent the difference between the paid up capital of 
the subsidiaries and the nominal value of Company’s shares issued in exchange for the equity interest in the 
subsidiaries upon the reorganisation of the Group prior to listing.
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23.	 RETAINED EARNINGS

RMB’000
  

At 1 January 2016 357,916

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 43,383

Dividends paid (10,670)

Transfer to statutory reserves (3,473)
  

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 387,156

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 22,732

Dividends paid (10,584)

Transfer to statutory reserves (3,098)
  

At 31 December 2017 396,206
  

24.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade payables 242,741 171,507

Bills payables (note a) 675,608 686,441
   

918,349 857,948

Deposits from customers 270,073 372,389

Other tax payables 3,324 2,026

Other payables and accruals 53,154 61,184
   

1,244,900 1,293,547
   

Notes:

(a)	 The bills are non-interest bearing and have a maximum maturity of six months. The credit period granted by 
the suppliers to the Group ranged from 30 to 90 days. Management of the Group monitors the repayment of 
all payables and ensures compliance with credit time frame.

(b)	 The aging analysis of the trade payables and bills payables at the end of the Reporting Period is as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

0 – 90 days 646,675 517,571
91 – 180 days 256,737 339,544
181 – 365 days 7,266 335
Over 365 days 7,671 498
   

918,349 857,948
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25.	 BORROWINGS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current

Short term bank borrowings

– Unsecured 319,995 193,834
   

Carrying amounts repayable (note d)

– within 1 year 319,995 193,834

– more than 1 year but within 2 years – –

– more than 2 years but within 5 years – –

– over 5 years – –
   

319,995 193,834

Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities due within 1 year 

or contain a repayment on demand clause (319,995) (193,834)
   

– –
   

Analysed into:

  – Unsecured 319,995 193,834
   

Notes:

(a)	 The effective annual interest rates of the borrowings at the reporting date were as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Effective rate 4.738% 4.420%
   

(b)	 The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2017 either due to 
their short-term maturity or because they bear interest at prevailing market rates throughout their maturity 
period.

(c)	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

RMB 319,995 180,000
US dollar – 13,834
   

319,995 193,834
   

(d)	 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates.
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26.	 DEFERRED INCOME

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Government grants received 5,531 5,887
   

The government grants from TEDA Administrative Commission were received in respect of its acquisition 

of land use rights and the project of inspection and storage centre. The government grants are 

recognised as deferred income and are released to income over the periods necessary to match them 

with the related costs.

27.	 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASE

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group leased certain of its investment properties and 

buildings under finance lease. The lease term is 3 years. Interest rate underlying the obligations under 

finance leases is 5.225%. At the end of the lease term of the finance lease contract, the Group will have 

the right to purchase these investment properties and buildings at a nominal purchase price of RMB1. 

No arrangement has been entered into for contingent rental payments.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group leased certain of its buildings, machinery, furniture 

and office equipment and motor vehicles under finance lease. The lease term is 3 years. Interest rate 

underlying the obligations under finance leases is 5.225%. At the end of the lease term of the finance 

lease contract, the Group will have the right to purchase these buildings, machinery, furniture and 

office equipment and motor vehicles at a nominal purchase price of RMB100. No arrangement has been 

entered into for contingent rental payments.
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27.	 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group’s finance lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

Minimum lease payment

Present value of minimum 

lease payment

2017 2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Amounts payable under finance lease:

Within one year 53,075 34,347 46,936 30,333

In the second year 47,672 32,741 45,032 30,333

In the third year 7,559 27,342 7,304 26,542
     

108,306 94,430 99,272 87,208

Less: Future finance charges (9,034) (7,222) – –
     

99,272 87,208 99,272 87,208
     

Less: Amount due within one year shown 

under current liabilities (46,936) (30,333)
     

Amount due after one year shown under 

non-current liabilities 52,336 56,875
     

The carrying amounts of the finance lease liabilities approximate their fair values. As at 31 December 

2017, the Group has investment properties under finance leases with net book value of approximately 

RMB9,521,000 (2016: RMB6,788,000) (Note 16), buildings under finance leases with net book value of 

approximately RMB89,781,000 (2016: RMB83,835,000) (Note 15), machinery under finance leases with 

net book value of approximately RMB1,582,000 (2016: Nil) (Note 15), furniture and office equipment 

under finance leases with net book value of approximately RMB1,268,000 (2016: Nil) (Note 15) and 

motor vehicles under finance leases with net book value of approximately RMB4,027,000 (2016: Nil) (Note 

15).
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28.	 DIVIDENDS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Interim dividend – –

Final dividend (note a and b) – 10,629
   

– 10,629
   

Notes:

(a)	 The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2017.

(b)	 On 24 March 2017, the Directors of the Company proposed the payment of final dividend of RMB0.03 per 
share for the year ended 31 December 2016. The annual general meeting approved and declared the proposal 
on 12 May 2017. The total amount is approximately RMB10,629,000 and was paid on or before 30 June 
2017 to shareholders whose names appeared on the register of members of the Company on 25 May 2017.

(c)	 The dividends actually paid to owners of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 
were approximately RMB10,584,000 and RMB10,670,000 respectively based on the number of issued shares 
outstanding at relevant time.

29.	 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Pledged bank deposits 165,337 144,423

Investment properties 9,521 6,788

Buildings 89,781 83,835

Furniture and office equipment 1,268 –

Motor Vehicles 4,027 –

Machinery 1,582 –
   

271,516 235,046
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30.	 CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Profit before income tax 59,602 67,703

Adjustments for:

Interest income (3,962) (6,274)

Finance costs 17,631 10,427

Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 17,555 21,133

Depreciation for investment properties 4,444 4,444

Amortisation of land use rights 2,587 2,587

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,090 286

Deferred income amortisation (356) (356)

Share of results of investments accounted for  

using equity method (17,934) (31,789)
   

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital:

Inventories 29,725 17,851

Trade and other receivables 78,540 68,196

Trade and other payables (48,647) (306,800)
   

Net cash generated from/(used in) operations 140,275 (152,592)
   

31.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flow 

were, or future cashflows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from 

financing activities.

Obligations 

under finance 

leases Borrowings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

At 1 January 2017 87,208 193,834 281,042

Accrued interest 8,104 9,527 17,631

Interest paid (8,104) (9,527) (17,631)

Proceeds from financing cash inflows 55,000 352,321 407,321

Financing cash outflows (42,936) (226,160) (269,096)    

At 31 December 2017 99,272 319,995 419,267    
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32.	 COMMITMENTS

(i)	 The Group leases various offices warehouses and vehicles under non-cancellable operating lease 

agreements. The lease terms are between 1 and 5 years, and the majority of lease agreements 

are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate.

The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease rental expenses in respect of non-cancellable 

operating leases are as follows:

lessee
2017 2016

Buildings RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within one year 1,260 1,163

In the second to fifth year inclusive – –
   

1,260 1,163
   

2017 2016

Motor vehicles RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within one year 2,287 2,689

In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,136 165
   

4,423 2,854
   

(ii)	 The future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of 

investment properties are as follows:

Lessor

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within one year 10,281 10,114

In the second to fifth year inclusive 13,484 27,585

Over fifth year – –
   

23,766 37,699
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33.	 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2017, the Group has outstanding guarantee of approximately RMB245,288,000 

provided to Tedahang, a joint venture with 60% interest owned by the Group, for its bank borrowing 

facilities of RMB350,000,000. The borrowings drawn down by the joint venture as at 31 December 2017 

was approximately RMB104,712,000.

The Directors of the Company consider that the fair value of this outstanding financial guarantee is 

insignificant at initial recognition and the possibility of default is remote. Accordingly, no value has been 

recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and on the statement of financial position as at 

31 December 2017.

34.	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 Transactions/balances with other state owned enterprises in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated by enterprises directly 

or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government (hereinafter collectively referred to 

as “state-controlled entities”). The directors of the Company consider those state-controlled 

entities are independent third parties so far as the Group’s business transactions with them are 

concerned.

During the year, the Group’s significant transactions with these state controlled entities include 

purchases of raw materials for trading purposes and fuel for transportation vehicles used in the 

logistics business. As at year end, majority of the Group’s cash and bank balances and borrowings 

are with state controlled banks.

(b)	 Key management compensation

The details of remuneration of key management personnel are set out in Note 9.
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34.	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)	 For the transactions constitute connected transactions under GEM Listing Rules, please refer to 

“Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.

The followings are the details of continuing connected transactions of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2017:

RMB
  

Provision of logistics services and supply chain solutions for automobiles and 

car components by the Group toTianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd (note 1) 22,290,000
  

Sale of frozen meat and provision of the related storage, logistics and logistics 

supporting services by Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd to the 

Company (note 2) 22,137,000
  

Notes:

1.	 Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. (天津豐田物流有限公司), a sino-foreign equity joint venture 
incorporated in the PRC on 19 July 1996, which is owned as to 52% by the Company, 36.2% 
by Toyota Tsusho, 7.3% by Kamigumi Company Limited (日本株式會社上組) and 4.5% by Toyota 
Transportation Corporation (日本豐田輸送株式會社); and Tianjin Fengtian Logistics Co., Ltd. is a 
subsidiary of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

2.	 Tedahang Cold Chain Logistics Co., Ltd. (泰達行(天津)冷鏈物流有限公司), a company established in 
Dongjiang Bonded Free Port, Tianjin, PRC with limited liability and owned as to 60% by the Company 
and 40% by Chia Tai Logistics Company Limited (正大物流有限公司); and Tedahang Cold Chain 
Logistics Co., Ltd. is a joint venture of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.
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35.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Land use rights 43,616 44,757
Property, plant and equipment 2,394 2,561
Investment properties 55,574 59,465
Investments in subsidiaries 180,321 180,321
Investments in jointly controlled entities 170,941 170,941
Investments in associates 13,500 13,500
Available-for-sale financial assets 16,310 16,310

   

482,656 487,855
   

Current assets
Inventories 22,112 53,738
Trade and other receivables 1,120,070 1,155,356
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note a) 38,176 48,091
Pledged bank deposits 165,337 144,423
Cash and cash equivalents 256,338 205,922

   

1,602,033 1,607,530
   

Total assets 2,084,689 2,095,385
   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Share capital 354,312 354,312
Other reserves (note c) 93,978 92,381
Retained earnings (note c) 163,226 154,874

   

Total equity 611,516 601,567
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35.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

As at 31 December

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 995,385 1,133,417
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note b) 157,537 180,077
Current income tax liabilities 256 324
Borrowings 319,995 180,000

   

Total liabilities 1,473,173 1,493,818
   

Total equity and liabilities 2,084,689 2,095,385
   

Net current assets 128,860 113,712
   

Total assets less current liabilities 611,516 601,567
   

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 

2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Wang Tse, Theresa YY
Director Director

Notes:

(a)	 Amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.

(b)	 Amounts due to subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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35.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 Reserves of the Company:

Share
premium

Statutory
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 1 January 2016 55,244 34,221 151,714 241,179
Transfer from retained earnings – 2,916 (2,916) –
Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – 16,746 16,746
Dividends paid – – (10,670) (10,670)
     

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 55,244 37,137 154,874 247,255

Transfer from retained earnings – 1,597 (1,597) –
Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – 20,533 20,533
Dividends paid – – (10,584) (10,584)
     

At 31 December 2017 55,244 38,734 163,226 257,204
     

For details of the statutory reserves, please refer to the note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

36.	 AUTHORISATION OF ISSUE OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 

on 20 March 2018.
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